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Luncheon adjournment from 12.49 pm to 1.54 pm 1 

CHAIR:  Yes Ms McKechnie.  2 

MS McKECHNIE:  The next witness on behalf of Te Tautoko and the Catholic Church is 3 

Virginia Noonan.  4 

CHAIR:  Hello Ms Noonan.  5 

A. Hello.  6 

Q. How would you like to be addressed, Ms Noonan?  7 

A. Yes, that's fine thank you.   8 

Q. I'll ask you to take the affirmation please. 9 

VIRGINIA MAREE NOONAN (Affirmed)  10 

QUESTIONING BY MS McKECHNIE:  Thank you Madam Chair.  Virginia, you were asked to 11 

give evidence to the Royal Commission and have prepared a witness statement answering 12 

some particular questions, do you have that in front of you?   13 

A. Yes.  14 

Q. It's dated 29 January 2021, and to begin I'll ask you to confirm that the contents of that 15 

remains true and correct to the best of your knowledge?  16 

A. Yes, I confirm that. 17 

CHAIR:  Just an eye on speed please. 18 

QUESTIONING BY MS McKECHNIE CONTINUED:  What Madam Chair is referring to is 19 

that we have signers and stenographers and I should know better so I will try and slow 20 

down.  If you could begin, please Virginia, by introducing yourself briefly to the 21 

Commissioners in terms of your professional background and what brought you to be the 22 

Director of NOPS?  23 

A. Thank you.  Tēnā koutou katoa, Ko Tawera te maunga, ko Waimakariri te awa, ko Ōtautahi 24 

ahau.  Ko Virginia Noonan tōku ingoa.  No reira, tēnā koutou katoa.  25 

CHAIR:  Kia ora. 26 

COMMISSIONER ERUETI:  Tēnā koe.  27 

A. Good afternoon, thank you very much for having me here this afternoon.  My name is 28 

Virginia Noonan and I'm current Director for the National Office of Professional Standards 29 

for the Catholic Church Aotearoa New Zealand.  My background is in law, I was in private 30 

practice for eight years before taking a break from that world to raise our two young 31 

children.  During that time I pursued my love of governance and was appointed to a number 32 

of local and national boards.  I then moved into the world of intervention and was 33 

appointed by the Ministry of Education as statutory manager to support school boards and 34 
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school wider school communities. 1 

  In 2017 I was then appointed as the national -- sorry, as the Safeguarding 2 

Coordinator for the Christchurch Catholic Diocese, then in 2018 I was very privileged to be 3 

appointed to this current role.  Perhaps should I explain a little bit -- 4 

QUESTIONING BY MS McKECHNIE CONTINUED:  [Nods].   5 

A. So I took up the opportunity to take on the role of the Safeguarding Coordinator for the 6 

Christchurch Diocese because as a practising Catholic and a mum I could really -- I really 7 

felt that I could add value to help strengthen the safeguarding practises within my church.  8 

I wanted to ensure a safe church for my kids, for my Godchildren, for my nieces and 9 

nephews.  During that year, 2017, I connected with other people in the other five dioceses 10 

who were doing similar work to myself and we engaged, throughout the year, we met 11 

regularly, and to simply share practice, to share resources, and to talk about framework for 12 

safeguarding.  It became very clear to myself and my colleagues the value of having 13 

consistent safeguarding practice throughout our country, throughout all five dioceses.  14 

  Then in 2018 I applied for the role of National Director upon the retirement of the 15 

then Director from the role, and I was very privileged to be appointed to this role.  I began 16 

in February 2018.  In this role I still steadfastly am committed to ensuring that we have 17 

consistent safeguarding practises around the country in every faith, Catholic faith 18 

community. 19 

  I'm also equally committed to ensuring that we have within our church a safe 20 

environment for survivors to come forward to make disclosures of harm, an environment 21 

where their harm will be acknowledged, where those responsible for that harm will be held 22 

to account, and where their survivor experiences can inform our current and future 23 

safeguarding practises.   24 

Q. Thank you Virginia.  Now we have a little bit less than an hour, I've just been speaking to 25 

Ms Anderson, we're a little bit behind overall so I'm going to cut it down a little bit less 26 

than an hour.  We're going to cover very briefly the creation and the role of NOPS.  That's 27 

mostly covered, Commissioners, in Mr Hamlin's evidence which you have.  And then we'll 28 

talk about the current Path to Healing processes, a bit more about safeguarding which you 29 

have just introduced, and then talk about some of the reflections on the evidence that you've 30 

had.  In terms of the creation and role of NOPS, there's a chronology has been set out by 31 

Tautoko in relation to this.  So that, Commissioners, will give you the detail.  It's the 32 

document I handed up on Monday and for the record it's CTH0010532.    33 

   So given that information is with the Commission, just very briefly, from 2004, 34 
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what NOPS was doing then through to the changes of what NOPS is doing now?  1 

A. Certainly.  So overview and taken -- some of this information is taken from material that I 2 

have also read.  So in 2004 the National Office for Professional Standards was established.  3 

At that point its role was to support congregations and dioceses on how to manage the 4 

receipt and management of complaints of sexual abuse.  At that time congregations and 5 

dioceses had their own sexual abuse protocol committees. 6 

  The role of the then Director was also to review any complaint where parties to 7 

that complaint were not satisfied with the process that had been undertaken.   8 

Q. Virginia, who was the first Director?  9 

A. Mr John Jamieson.  10 

Q. What was his background?  11 

A. I understand he had been a Police Commissioner.  12 

Q. Was he Catholic?  13 

A. No.  Then in, I understand, in 2009 there was a directive that while the office would 14 

continue to support congregations and dioceses in their management of complaints and to 15 

help develop processes to do that NOPS was to take an oversight position, so they were to 16 

receive a copy of all the complaint information in order to be able to better support 17 

congregations and dioceses in that work.  The role of reviewer of any complaint continued 18 

to be maintained by the Director. 19 

   Then in 2014 I think from memory there was a decision made that the individual 20 

diocesan or congregational sexual abuse protocol committees would be combined into two, 21 

a northern and a southern protocol committee.  The northern committee was Auckland, 22 

made up of the Auckland and Hamilton dioceses, and the southern committee was made up 23 

of Dunedin, Christchurch, Wellington and Palmerston North. 24 

   Then in 2016 there was a discussion among the congregational leaders and the 25 

bishops around having a more, a one centralised Complaints Committee.  That was agreed 26 

upon by the Catholic leaders, the congregational leaders and bishops, and that began its 27 

work in early 2017.  So that is the Committee we currently have and it is called the 28 

Complaints Assessment Committee.   29 

Q. Thank you.  And that brings us through to the current process and so I'd like to ask you 30 

some questions about that and to guide that discussion if we could bring up please 31 

CTH0004902.  It's going to come up on the screen in front of you.  What is this document, 32 

Virginia?  33 

A. This is a document that our office created to try and help explain in a simplified way our 34 
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Path to Healing protocol investigation process.  So the first page has all the contact details 1 

and details of what we would like to be able to ascertain from that first initial contact with 2 

the survivor and it then goes further into more detail.  3 

Q. It's a three-page document and we're going to work through it systematically.  But before 4 

we do that, how does somebody who wants to approach NOPS or a church entity find this 5 

document?  6 

A. There are copies available on our website.  We also, as soon as we have received contact 7 

from a survivor or a survivor's family member or friend, making any form of inquiry, this is 8 

one of the key documents that we immediately provide to give an outline in the first 9 

instance of our protocol process.  10 

Q. And when was this developed, Virginia?  11 

A. It was initially developed in 2018, however, the version we're looking at now is probably 12 

various versions, it is constantly being reviewed and revised to ensure it is providing clear 13 

information.  We do take feedback from survivors and survivor advocates around perhaps 14 

some wording.  So it's a constantly evolving document.  15 

Q. If we could call out the lower half of that page under the box please.  The Commissioners 16 

can see there that you set out the information that will be required.  I'd just like you to 17 

explain please, that second to last paragraph beginning "Telling your whole story", why is 18 

that included in that document?  19 

A. We are very conscious that as part of our protocol we invite a survivor to meet with an 20 

independent investigator to share their full experience.  We are, therefore, very conscious of 21 

not asking the survivor to share their story more than once.  So we invite the survivor to 22 

provide us with really just minimal information at this very early stage, simply to check that 23 

it fits within the scope of our office, because if it doesn't then we will make the appropriate 24 

referrals.  So we want to be able to have enough information to know yes, we are the 25 

appropriate place to work and journey with that survivor and that's -- we then go into more 26 

detail later about what process needs to be followed from there.  But it is very deliberately 27 

to provide, to be very clear, that we don't want that survivor having to share their 28 

experience over and over.  29 

Q. In the next paragraph, Virginia, there's a reference to Police.  Can you explain the approach 30 

NOPS takes to Police involvement?  31 

A. Any contact from a survivor, a survivor's whanau or support person, we encourage that 32 

person to take their complaint to the Police.  We will tell them that over the phone, via 33 

e-mail, in written form.  We do believe that they, the Police, are the best place to take 34 
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complaints of this nature.  If, however, that complainant does not -- the survivor does not 1 

wish to do that, then we offer this alternative investigation process.  We do have 2 

mandatory -- what effectively we take as mandatory reporting.  If the complaint is from, or 3 

the disclosure is from a survivor who is currently under the age of 18 and they do not wish 4 

to take the matter to the Police, then we will discuss with them that our obligation to refer 5 

the matter to the Police.  6 

CHAIR:  Sorry, just as a matter of clarification, you said if the person -- the Police is the best 7 

place to investigate.  8 

A. Yes.  9 

Q. But if the person doesn't choose to do so, then it comes to this process.  Am I right in 10 

inferring from that that if it goes to the Police, NOPS doesn't carry on, is that what you're 11 

saying?  12 

A. We will suspend our process until the Police have finished with their -- finished prosecution 13 

or finished with their inquiries for the sole reason we don't interview or any way 14 

contaminate what could be a criminal prosecution.  We will then absolutely pick that 15 

disclosure back up and journey with the survivor through our investigation process.  16 

Q. That could be some years or sometime?  17 

A. Potentially, yes.  We try and keep in contact with the survivor, and we try and have links 18 

with the Police in situations like that, so we can have feedback around how that process is 19 

tracking.  20 

Q. Thank you.   21 

QUESTIONING BY MS McKECHNIE CONTINUED:  Since you've been in the role, in your 22 

experience do many people go, choose to go to the Police? 23 

A. It would be a minimal number of survivors do go to the Police, I'm sorry I can't give you an 24 

exact figure at the moment.  And we encourage survivors to contact the Police at any stage.  25 

It may be at the beginning, they may change their mind and want to contact the Police 26 

during our investigation process, so that's open to them at any stage, but it would be a small 27 

number.  28 

Q. If we could go to the second page of that document please, which is headed "A more 29 

detailed description of the process" and just call out the top half of the page please so we 30 

can see it more clearly.  You mentioned before the initial assessment process and the scope 31 

of A Path to Healing.  Can you just briefly explain to the Commission what is within the 32 

scope of the Path to Healing and the office and what is outside?  33 

A. So the Path to Healing specifically provides that we will manage and oversee complaints of 34 
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sexual abuse or sexual misconduct by clergy or religious.  So we're talking priests, clerics 1 

and members of religious congregations both male and female.  2 

Q. What happens, Virginia, if a complaint does fall outside the scope of your office's mandate?  3 

A. That does happen.  So what we will do is with the survivor's permission we will make -- we 4 

will refer that complaint to the appropriate diocese or congregation.  We have asked and 5 

expect that each congregation and diocese has a contact person that we then will refer that 6 

person to, so we try and have it as a hand-over process, so they don't have to try and get 7 

those contact details, we will try very carefully to hand that over to the diocese or 8 

congregation to then be able to respond and manage that disclosure and/or complaint.  9 

Q. Virginia, what happens in processes where there might be a sexual allegation against an 10 

individual and a physical allegation made against the same individual?  11 

A. So what we have done is adapted our process to ensure that, or try to have a survivor not 12 

having to tell their story to our investigator regarding the disclosure of sexual abuse and 13 

then perhaps a diocesan investigator regarding perhaps a disclosure of physical abuse.  This 14 

process has evolved and where we are now is that we will have one of our independent 15 

investigators meet with a survivor and take their statement which will include all aspects of 16 

the abuse.  The Complaints Assessment Committee for NOPS will then respond and make a 17 

recommendation regarding the complaint of sexual abuse.  The balance of that statement 18 

will then be provided to the diocese or the congregation to be able to respond to the other 19 

further complaints or allegations of other harm.  This is on the proviso that that is what a 20 

survivor would like to do, if they would like to do it differently, if they would like to 21 

separate out both aspects of their harm and abuse, that's fine, we'll be guided by them.  But 22 

that is something we have evolved and we have found that survivors tend to prefer to 23 

engage in that manner.  24 

COMMISSIONER ERUETI:  That makes sense to me, can I just ask please, for how long, when 25 

was this new policy initiated? 26 

A. New policy, pardon?   27 

Q. This new approach that you say has evolved of including merging physical and sexual 28 

abuse into one claim?  29 

A. Gosh, it would probably be over the last 12, 18 months.  With myself and my team we're 30 

very reflective in our practice, so hearing feedback from survivor and particularly survivor 31 

advocates around the distress they may have been feeling about having to separate or speak 32 

to two different entities, how can we make this better, how can we make this easier for a 33 

survivor.  So it's an evolving, and I think probably at least 12 to 18 months.  I could check 34 
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that, though, to see where our process changed.  1 

Q. Okay, thank you.   2 

QUESTIONING BY MS McKECHNIE CONTINUED:  Moving to the investigation process, as 3 

you've said a number of times, it's undertaken by an independent person.  It says here with 4 

investigative experience.  Why is that approach adopted? 5 

A. This is an inquiry process protocol.  We have -- it is about trying to have someone with the 6 

correct training to elicit and ask the right questions to encourage the survivor to tell their 7 

story and to share their experience of harm.  We then need that independent investigator to 8 

undertake investigative work.  They need to research church records, they may need to 9 

contact other witnesses who a survivor has nominated who may be able to help share more 10 

information.  They may need to meet with a respondent.  So there is sometimes a lot of 11 

research that needs to go into this work.  Was that responding to your question?   12 

Q. Who chooses the investigators for a particular investigation? 13 

A. So we now have what we term as independent investigators.  So they are engaged by our 14 

office, however they're not direct employees of our office.  They are selected for their -- the 15 

background that they have and their experience.  So most of our investigators have 16 

extensive investigative experience and we have been moving towards selecting 17 

investigators who have backgrounds in adult sexual abuse trauma, particularly those who've 18 

worked within such trauma teams within the Police and have extensive experience in 19 

working with survivors of sexual abuse.  20 

Q. As part of the evidence and questioning this morning, I know you were listening to some of 21 

that but not all of it, Peter Horide was asked about what happens if there is a denial.  So in 22 

the current process set out here, if an investigator interviews a respondent and there is a 23 

denial, what is the process now?  24 

A. We would ask our investigator to go back to the survivor and explain that the respondent in 25 

this case has denied the harm.  We would then ask the investigator to invite that survivor to 26 

share any further information or anything else that, any other information that may help to 27 

corroborate their experience, their disclosure.  That is then another line of inquiry that our 28 

investigator can follow-up.   29 

Q. When the investigation is concluded, moves on to the next stage, if we're able to call up the 30 

bottom half of the document please.  In terms of the report, number 3 and number 4.  If we 31 

could call those out that would be helpful thank you.  If you could briefly explain what this 32 

process is and who undertakes it?  33 

A. Certainly.  Once the investigator has completed their investigation, they are asked to put 34 
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together a, what we provided for there, a written factual report.  That is then provided to the 1 

Complaints Assessment Committee.  With that report are all the supporting documents.  2 

That would be the survivor statement which the survivor has approved, and sometimes that 3 

can take time between investigator and survivor to get that statement into a form that the 4 

survivor is comfortable with.  So that report will have included all the supporting 5 

information.  That is then provided to the Complaints Assessment Committee.  That report 6 

is really important and does need to be very thorough, because that is the full information 7 

that the Complaints Assessment Committee will make their recommendation on.  The 8 

Committee members do not meet with the survivor or respondent.  So that report is then 9 

relied upon and considered by the Complaints Assessment Committee.  Sometimes the 10 

Committee will not be satisfied with the information provided, will identify perhaps 11 

another line of inquiry that they would like to be looked into, and that will absolutely be 12 

referred through our office back to the investigator to look into.  The Committee members 13 

will then discern and discuss the material provided and make a recommendation on whether 14 

the balance of probabilities, so more likely than not, that that complaint should be upheld.   15 

Q. And then where does that recommendation go to, if we could call out 5 and 6 please in the 16 

document?  17 

A. So that letter of recommendation together with the report and supporting information is 18 

then provided to the bishop or congregational leader.  Just to clarify, that is the bishop or 19 

congregational leader of the respondent, of the respondent person.  The Committee may 20 

also include in that letter of recommendations not just whether they believe the complaint 21 

should be upheld, but other recommendations perhaps about outcomes, or any sanctions 22 

possibly of a respondent.  And outcomes is an important question that our investigators ask 23 

survivors when they meet with them is what do you want to have as an outcome from this 24 

process.  So that's a very key question, and it is asked more than once, generally asked 25 

more than once during an investigation.  At the beginning, perhaps during because a 26 

survivor's -- what a survivor would like out of the investigation process or A Path to 27 

Healing may change as they journey through the protocol.  So the letter of recommendation 28 

will then be provided to the bishop or congregational leader with the report and all 29 

supporting information.  30 

Q. And then what happens?  31 

A. The bishop or congregational leader will then consider the recommendation from the 32 

Complaints Assessment Committee, the material provided, and will then decide whether 33 

the complaint is to be upheld or not.  And then they would make contact with the survivor 34 
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directly.  We have prefaced that contact by usually contacting the survivor and to let them 1 

know that the letter of recommendation has now gone to the bishop or congregational 2 

leader so they should expect to receive direct contact from that bishop or congregational 3 

leader.  We do that so they're not surprised, we also ask how they would perhaps like that 4 

contact to be made, is it e-mail, is it phone, so perhaps in case they want a support person 5 

available when that call or contact is first made.  And we then -- that matter is then left with 6 

the congregational leader or bishop to make contact and to then move to the next phase of 7 

A Path to Healing protocol which is about resolution.  8 

Q. What role does the NOPS office have in the resolution phase?  9 

A. We have a limited role in that.  Our role has actually effectively come to an end, however, 10 

because of the relationship we've often formed with a survivor, we may become the conduit 11 

for contact with a bishop or congregational leader.  If perhaps there's been concerns around 12 

time that perhaps they haven't heard or perhaps they're not understanding of something, we 13 

are often the first port of call to help work through that process.  If we do receive advice 14 

from a survivor that they haven't heard from or are struggling to make contact with a bishop 15 

or congregational leader, we will immediately go to that bishop or congregational leader 16 

and find out what's happening and to help facilitate that connection.   17 

Q. Moving to the resolution phase and if we could call out 7 please.  We've just discussed the 18 

engagement with the complainant.  The other important aspect of this process where the 19 

accused person is alive is the impact that it has on them.  So if you could briefly explain the 20 

role that this investigation has where the respondent is a living member of the church?  21 

A. So if the respondent person is still in ministry, so they're alive and still in active ministry, 22 

we will do what we refer to as a risk assessment.  So we will look at the nature of the 23 

complaint or the disclosure of abuse, we will look at whether there have been other similar 24 

or other complaints, we will then make recommendations to the bishop or congregational 25 

leader about safeguards around that person.  We have recently introduced safety plans or 26 

safeguarding plans which are a template document which we have key points which we 27 

need to be considered, which we believe need to be considered, such as what sort of 28 

safeguards are around that person, what contact there should be and also who's going to 29 

monitor that safety plan.  And then it is actually assigned by a respondent person, bishop 30 

and they would expect to receive a copy of that to be kept in the loop.  And we are certainly 31 

encouraging the use of that safety plan, so it's written and very clear about what safeguards 32 

are regarding that person during the investigation process.  Once a decision has been made 33 

by the bishop or congregational leader we may be invited or asked to help support that 34 
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congregational leader to create a different plan moving forward.  And we will support the 1 

congregational leader or diocese in doing that.  2 

Q. And the last stage at number 8, if we could call it out, is a review.  If you could briefly 3 

explain what that is?  4 

A. So A Path to Healing provide that if a person is not satisfied with the investigation or 5 

decision, they can request a review.  That review is about looking at whether the process 6 

has followed the principles and procedures as set out in A Path to Healing.  Previously it 7 

has been when NOPS wasn't overseeing the complaints processes ourselves, it was my role, 8 

the National Director role who would undertake those reviews.  However, as the scope of 9 

our office has changed it's not appropriate that I as Director investigate or do a review of 10 

disclosures which I have been directly involved in.  Therefore we have worked towards 11 

putting together a panel of experienced people who are able to take those files and to take 12 

and to consider the grounds of review that a survivor has raised, and to consider whether 13 

the Path to Healing protocols and procedures have been followed, if they haven't, and the 14 

reviewer will make recommendations about what they believe should happen moving 15 

forward.  That report is then provided to the survivor or the party requesting that review 16 

report.  17 

Q. Virginia, in your written evidence at paragraph 27 you talk about the privilege and 18 

responsibility that you feel in engaging with survivors in this process.  Yesterday when 19 

Tom Doyle gave evidence he talked about from his experience helping people through this 20 

process can be difficult.  He used the phrase "punching bag", he talked about transference.  21 

What is your experience in the process assisting survivors?  22 

A. It is a challenging and demanding role.  But as I said in my brief, it is just the most 23 

enormous privilege to be potentially at the end of a phone when someone who has held this 24 

secret for decades has the confidence to call us and to want to share their experience with 25 

us.  With it comes huge responsibility, because we need to make sure and we're constantly 26 

working to provide an environment where that survivor is safe, where they are able to 27 

disclose safely and with confidence.  I am aware too of, through my professional 28 

development that I'm undertaking around being trauma-informed and how we can move our 29 

protocol to be more trauma responsive, that myself and my team have to be aware of 30 

second-hand or vicarious trauma because of the engagement we have with survivors.   31 

Q. We've briefly touched on safeguarding, Virginia, and having said I'll be less than hour we 32 

probably don't have time to discuss that in detail.  But Commissioners and those watching 33 

on the live stream, this evidence is set out in Virginia's brief and the policies for 34 
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safeguarding nationally within the church and in the particular dioceses are all available 1 

online.  So both for you, Commissioners, and for people who want to know what the 2 

safeguarding policies are for the church, I would encourage them to look at those. 3 

   So I'd like to move, Virginia, through to some of the reflections in your brief from 4 

the evidence that you heard in December and you have deliberately chosen not to comment 5 

on specific cases and can I ask why you don't want to make specific observations on the 6 

evidence?  7 

A. My belief is that it's not my story to tell, and so I am also very conscious of privacy 8 

concerns, and so I would certainly prefer to refrain from referring to specifics regarding any 9 

disclosure or complaint file we've managed.  10 

Q. You do respond to some of the specific criticisms and I'm just going to ask you to reflect on 11 

some of those now.  So at 32 in your brief you acknowledge the concerns some survivors 12 

have about confidentiality and privacy.  If you could share your reflections on some of that 13 

evidence that you heard about those concerns that in the investigation process privacy is not 14 

looked after enough for some survivors?  15 

A. And I acknowledge that feedback, and we have worked very hard and we continue to work 16 

hard to ensure that we provide survivors with the confidence that their information they 17 

share with us is incredibly precious.  So we have created and developed new consents that 18 

we ask witnesses to complete and to sign as an acknowledgment that we are sharing with 19 

them very sensitive information and that we expect them not to share that information 20 

further than perhaps their own support person, or legal advisor if that's appropriate.  We've 21 

also developed a new process where we have a church authority such as a bishop or 22 

congregational leader also sign an acknowledgment that that information will not be shared 23 

any further, once they receive that. 24 

   We also have instituted a new process where a survivor's statement is not provided 25 

to a respondent in a physical or electronic form.  It is read-only basis.  We will give the 26 

respondent absolutely as much time as they need to review and read that survivor 27 

statement, but they will not be left with a copy, unless we have an undertaking from 28 

perhaps their legal advisor that they will not be provided with a copy to take away.  And 29 

that's about trying to ensure that we protect that precious information.  30 

Q. One of the other criticisms that a number of the survivors made, Virginia, was concerns that 31 

they weren't given a full copy of the investigator's report to the Complaints Assessment 32 

Committee.  If you could reflect on some of that evidence please?  33 

A. That is a tension for us, because we do want the survivor as part of their journey with us to 34 
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have information that is about the investigation process, they've started this process with us.  1 

However, we are very mindful of the Privacy Act and the restrictions that that places on us.  2 

We do try and err on the side of disclosure, and if the Commission or the Commissioners or 3 

this Inquiry were able to give any recommendations about or any -- about this work to help 4 

us work through that tension, we would very much appreciate it.  But at the moment we do 5 

get advice if necessary about what we can share, but we are very mindful of those 6 

restrictions.  7 

Q. What sort of information would be withheld from a report?  8 

A. A respondent's personal information, personal information provided by perhaps a witness 9 

that the respondent has nominated for our investigator to talk to.  That report may include 10 

other information perhaps of -- there may be other complaint information in that and there 11 

may be some personal information included in that report regarding that.  And it may be 12 

necessary to have that information redacted or withheld.  13 

Q. You mean in relation to other individuals?  14 

A. Sorry, yes, sorry, regarding other individuals, yes.  15 

Q. The final point I'd like you to reflect on, Virginia, is there's also a concern heard in a lot of 16 

the evidence from survivors about wanting to know what happened or is going to happen to 17 

their perpetrator.  Often they're not necessarily given that information.  Do you have any 18 

reflections on that evidence?  19 

A. If a safety plan is to be put in place during the investigation process, we share that 20 

information at a high level with the survivor.  So the survivor is perhaps aware that there 21 

will be no contact made with them, or that perhaps they have been removed from the area 22 

in which the survivor lives.  We think that's important.  Moving forward, if there is to be 23 

sanctions placed on the respondent at the end of our investigation process, that is a matter 24 

for the bishop or congregational leader to work through with the survivor as to what 25 

information can be shared with them.  26 

Q. Thank you.  And finally, as the director of NOPS, what's your role in making any changes 27 

to A Path to Healing or a change in process?  28 

A. We are constantly taking in feedback, we value feedback, and what my role is to make 29 

recommendations to the National Safeguarding Professional Standards Committee who are 30 

the policy group, whether changes or amendments should be made.  They will then -- it is 31 

likely that if significant changes are to be made then they will refer the matter to the Mixed 32 

Commission, which is the partnership of all congregational leaders and bishops of 33 

New Zealand, who will then agree or perhaps ask questions around any recommendations.  34 
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So they'll flow through our office to the Committee to the group called the Mixed 1 

Commission.  2 

CHAIR:  Did you say the Mixed Commission?   3 

A. The Mixed Commission, sorry.  4 

MS McKECHNIE:  Thank you Virginia, I know Ms Anderson has some questions for you.  5 

CHAIR:  Thank you Ms McKechnie.  Ms Anderson.   6 

QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON:  Thank you Ms Noonan.  You'll be familiar with the 7 

format here, I'll move through a series of questions on different themes.  Before I move into 8 

the matters that I'd anticipated asking you about, I had a couple of questions arising out of 9 

your evidence that you've just given.  You refer to your background coming into the role 10 

and including that you had experience in governance, which is what you've been doing after 11 

your time in the legal profession.  12 

A. Yes.  13 

Q. In that governance role, am I right that you'll have a very clear understanding of the 14 

importance of setting of the tone from the top?  15 

A. Yes.  16 

Q. And the impact that can have on the culture of an organisation?  17 

A. Yes.  18 

Q. Taking on this role as director, where in the landscape across the church does that sit in 19 

terms of setting the tone from the top?  20 

A. I think in all leadership roles.  Our leadership role, committee leadership role, 21 

congregational leaders and bishop's leadership roles.  22 

Q. And in terms of that contribution, am I right you make a contribution as a leader in the 23 

safeguarding space?  24 

A. [Nods].  25 

Q. When you refer to safeguarding, are you including a response to a complaint within that as 26 

an overall umbrella, or do you see it as a separate element?  27 

A. When I talk about safeguarding, there are two arms to that.  One is responding to 28 

complaints, the other is the preventative work.  And one very much informs the other.  29 

Q. So when you're using the term "safeguarding", that's applying across both those 30 

components sitting underneath that umbrella, which is the prevention and the response?  31 

A. Yes.  32 

Q. In terms of coming into the role which you've clearly described a passion for and a 33 

privilege to take up the role, given most of us when we're looking for a change in 34 
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employment and we're looking to progress, we're often looking for roles where there might 1 

be an element that we think we can do very well, it's our bread and butter and there's a part 2 

that's a stretch, a stretch element of the role.  When you were looking at the applying for 3 

this role and as you're coming into the role, what did you think your stretch areas would be?  4 

A. Understanding and being able to respond to complaints of sexual abuse in an operational 5 

manner.  6 

Q. And am I right that in your background you hadn't had experience dealing directly with 7 

people who were in trauma before you came into this role?  8 

A. No, I had had experience with dealing with people who had experienced trauma in my legal 9 

work, I undertook a lot of family law, and so was able to engage in a number of various 10 

ways in that profession.  11 

Q. So when you were coming into the NOPS role with that background that you've explained, 12 

did you think that there would be on-going training needs that you would need for yourself 13 

coming into this, what I imagine is quite an intense space?  14 

A. Yes, and I undertook that myself, so a lot of reading of other jurisdictions and what 15 

they -- their own complaints process.  Understanding and talking to Committee members 16 

and seeking their guidance on the current process, and just listening and talking to 17 

survivors, to survivor advocates about what had been working, what hadn't been working as 18 

well, and bringing all that together.  19 

Q. So that's a focus on understanding the processes both here and off-shore.  But in terms of 20 

the core, because I assume at the heart of your offices you have to be ready at all times to 21 

be dealing with people who are approaching you in quite a distressed state?  22 

A. Yes.  23 

Q. So in terms of preparation for yourself moving into that what was going to be sort of a daily 24 

occurrence, did you think at the entry point to the role that you needed training to assist you 25 

in that capacity?  26 

A. I -- we engaged with a supervisor to ensure that we were properly supported in this role.  27 

I also drew on experience of working in statutory management where communities are 28 

often in a state of distress, and how to work and engage with people in those states of 29 

distress in a calm way.  And recently have, through the work of the Commission, and 30 

listening, have begun some more professional development particularly in the area of 31 

trauma-informed pedagogy.  32 

Q. Is that something that's developed over the last year or so?  33 

A. Yes, yes.  34 
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Q. When you've come into the office as Director in February 2018, what was the skill set that 1 

you had in the office available to you?  Because I think in your brief you've referred to, 2 

you've currently got four staff but they're not all full-time, are they?  3 

A. That's right, yes.  4 

Q. I think from ex-Police Commissioner Jamieson's day when he was in the role, he was the 5 

Director and they had one FTE?  6 

A. Yes.  7 

Q. And now we're forward to 2021 we've got a director, and how many FTEs do you have 8 

adding up the staff that you've got available to you?  9 

A. So we have myself, we have four part-times which would probably be the equivalent of 10 

maybe two, three people, I'm sorry, I'm not quite sure -- 11 

Q. Somewhere in there? 12 

A. Yes, yes.  13 

Q. And I think you've talked, as Ms McKechnie led you through your evidence, that the roles 14 

and function of the office have actually increased pretty significantly over time, haven't 15 

they?  16 

A. Yes.  17 

Q. So when you've come in, no doubt you would have been turning your mind to do I have the 18 

capability and capacity in the office for the size of the job?  19 

A. [Nods].  20 

Q. So the people that you had -- the four people that you've got now that make up the two to 21 

three FTEs, were they in the office when you came on board or were they different people?  22 

A. They're different people now, yes.  23 

Q. Has that been a change of skill set over time?  24 

A. Change of region, the office was originally based in Auckland but when I was appointed to 25 

the role there was working remotely at one point, however when the then Professional 26 

Standards Officer resigned from her role we shifted the whole office down to Christchurch 27 

with the approval of the National Safeguarding Professional Standards Committee.  28 

Q. And so that would have given you an opportunity to pick the staff, expertise that you 29 

thought was needed --  30 

A. Yes.  31 

Q. -- to be able to -- 32 

A. Yes.  33 

Q. What are the skill sets of the people in the office?  34 
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A. Our Professional Standards Officer has a background in medical as well as chaplaincy and 1 

has spent considerable time working with youth in need.  Our -- 2 

Q. Just to pause you there before we go on to the next person, when you say medical and 3 

chaplaincy, is that in a religious way or is that some other skill set?  4 

A. Sorry, no chaplaincy is working in a religious sense, not a religious person, sorry, and 5 

medical is working in an administrative executive role working in the medical area.  6 

Q. So administrative expertise and some, would it be right to say kind of chaplaincy pastoral 7 

kind of activity?  8 

A. Yes, absolutely, and for this role I needed someone who, and I think the role demands 9 

someone who has a very pastoral approach.  10 

Q. So moving on to the other staff members that you've got?  11 

A. National Safeguarding Lead, her background is in education, she was a former principal.  12 

Q. Before we move on to the next people, that safeguarding the -- 13 

A. Our National Safeguarding Lead is there to support me in working with all dioceses and 14 

congregations and Catholic entries around consistent safeguarding preventative practices 15 

around the country.  16 

Q. So when we use safeguarding as the umbrella term with two components underneath it, 17 

previously this is really working on the preventative side?  18 

A. Preventative, yes.  19 

Q. And the first person you've identified is really working on the response to complaints?  20 

A. Complaints and disclosures, yes.  21 

Q. And then you've got two other staff members?  22 

A. We have one person who is there to help support in an administrative capacity, and we're 23 

just recently looking to bring on another person to help in the -- to support our Professional 24 

Standards Officer.  25 

Q. And is one of the two people that you've identified so far the Professional Standards 26 

Officer, not the Executive Assistant Officer?  27 

CHAIR:  Sorry, we're starting to race.  Just ask that question again, Ms Anderson.   28 

QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  You've just referred to the Professional 29 

Standards Officer, that's not the person that's helping you on the prevention education side?   30 

A. No, sorry, two different roles.   31 

Q. So the first person you referred to as having the medical chaplaincy, is that the professional 32 

standards -- 33 

A. Professional Standards Officer, yes, sorry, yes.  34 
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Q. So just trying to understand, because obviously people will telephone, or e-mail initially to 1 

make contact.  Is that broadly how people come forward?  2 

A. Mostly by e-mail more recently, yes.  3 

Q. But in the past sort of a couple of years ago would there have been a difference between 4 

what was coming in by phone and what was coming in by e-mail?  5 

A. There are, no, there has definitely been more contact through correspondence, either 6 

through directly from a survivor or a survivor support person or by their perhaps legal 7 

support person.  8 

Q. And then just rounding off, you know, what's in the -- so those are the people available to 9 

you on a day-to-day basis and am I right that the office is staffed 9 to 3 each day so that if 10 

somebody rings during those hours they can talk to someone but from what you're saying 11 

most of the traffic is coming in via e-mail?  12 

A. Yes.  13 

Q. And you outsource the investigative functions and the review functions?  14 

A. Yes.  15 

Q. And the costs of those are passed back to the relevant church authority?  16 

A. Yes.  17 

Q. Did you when you first started, or do you know, it may have changed over time, have a 18 

panel of counsellors or navigators or communication assistants that you have at the ready to 19 

call on to assist when somebody makes that initial contact?  20 

A. So we are very mindful in our office that we are not the counsellors, we are not the 21 

psychotherapists experts, so what we do is offer referrals for the survivor.  So we will 22 

suggest and invite the survivor, if they wish, to contact a support person of their choice and 23 

that cost of that will be met by the congregation or the diocese.  So we are mindful that our 24 

role is to receive that disclosure of harm, to ensure that it does fit within the scope of our 25 

office, and then to ensure that that person is able to connect with a professional counsellor, 26 

psychotherapist of their choosing to be able to support them in the investigation process.  27 

Q. So that's in relation to counselling.  Am I right that at times what might come back on the 28 

e-mail to the person who's made that initial contact is a referral to the ACC sensitive claims 29 

process and counselling via that route?  30 

A. Yes.  31 

Q. And in terms of needs other than counselling, so for example if I mentioned the sort of 32 

navigator or communication assistant, if somebody needs that available to them to actually 33 

be able to engage in the dialogue with the office and take the next steps, do you have a 34 



 653 

panel of those people available that you can call on?  1 

A. We would be at this stage guided by the survivor if they are specifically for that support, we 2 

will do our very best to help facilitate access to that.  Through the work that 3 

I'm -- professional development I'm undertaking, I understand and acknowledge the 4 

importance now of actually having options available for a survivor to be able to make an 5 

informed decision around perhaps the type of support that may be helpful, rather than 6 

leaving it to the survivor to come up with, but actually having options available so they can 7 

then make an informed choice themselves, I now understand the importance of that.  8 

Q. Because it's, you know, a system that relies on somebody saying "I want this" when you're 9 

dealing with people in trauma is not really -- 10 

A. It's not appropriate, so we very much will be moving forwards being more trauma-informed 11 

responsive and having, and I understand and acknowledge the importance of having that 12 

choice for people and having the options available, so we'll certainly be moving towards 13 

that, and also ensuring that we screen or filter our referrals.  I'm now understanding too the 14 

importance of counsellors and/or psychotherapists having that trauma-informed background 15 

which I now understand not everybody may have.  So being able to do that initial filter to 16 

have -- to be able to refer survivors to people with that background and expertise.  17 

Q. And when you say you now understand that, how recent is that understanding?  18 

A. That's only in the last few months.  Each time a survivor has come to us and talked about 19 

support they might need or we've gauged from them perhaps something may be helpful, we 20 

try and engage with them and have a conversation around that.  But I'm now understanding 21 

the importance of having that first up, to be preventative and proactive in having that 22 

available to be able for, as I said, survivors can make informed choices about the care and 23 

support that they would like.  24 

Q. And I think you referred in the evidence that Ms McKechnie led you from you the point 25 

that you've just made that when a survivor perhaps gives frank feedback at a certain point 26 

about what hasn't worked for them, you are then looking at what you might need to 27 

calibrate in the process?  28 

A. Yes, we certainly try to do that.  29 

Q. Can you see the point that if there was actually survivor involvement in the development of 30 

the process from the outset, that you wouldn't need to be doing that recalibration after the 31 

fact?  32 

A. Absolutely.  And the current A Path to Healing process is due for review towards the end of 33 

this year and a key factor will be gathering information and feedback from survivors and 34 
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survivor advocates around what is working and what hasn't been working.  We have 1 

initiated that through recent correspondence we send, when we send correspondence, sorry, 2 

to survivors that initial, perhaps initial information and then another two or three key points 3 

in the investigation process we do add a little note at the bottom of our correspondence to 4 

say "We would value your feedback, here's an e-mail, please do respond."  But we will be 5 

able to, later in the year, be able to more actively gather that information.  It's important 6 

information.  7 

Q. Yes, but it does need a system as to how you collect it, isn't it, as opposed to ad hoc 8 

somebody might be coming to you because of the relation they've built up with you and 9 

putting that into the mix?  10 

A. And having a planned approach is what we'll be working towards, yes, agree.  11 

Q. And am I right that you're expressing a clear commitment this is going to happen?  12 

A. Yes.  13 

Q. What will that new process look like in terms of building from the ground up a revision to 14 

the next, A Path to Healing including involvement and collaboration with survivors and 15 

survivor networks?  16 

A. I can give a commitment that it will be a planned approach, I haven't yet got that plan, but it 17 

certainly will be a planned approach.  18 

Q. And to take that even one step further backwards, because it's often the case, isn't it, that 19 

when you have a planned approach and then you're attempting to engage on that, the 20 

dialogue moves to well we should have been involved in planning the approach?  21 

A. At the table for -- absolutely, yes agreed.  It is important to have those voices at the table.  22 

Q. Given that the current version of A Path to Healing, which was issued last year, 2020, is 23 

there any reason why that approach wasn't able to be accommodated in the development of 24 

that latest version?  25 

A. Constantly learning and evolving myself and my team and through the questioning and the 26 

information we've learned through this Inquiry.  27 

Q. You referred in your evidence-in-chief to what might happen when somebody comes 28 

forward with a disclosure of abuse that involves not only sexual abuse but other forms of 29 

abuse that are outside the Path to Healing?  30 

A. [Nods].  31 

Q. Am I right that that's a very recent development that you are identifying where the 32 

investigator might be going once and taking a full statement, just in terms of the timeline, 33 

when might that have become a practise?  34 
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A. As I mentioned earlier, it feels it's been in practise actually for quite some time because we 1 

recognised -- I couldn't give an exact timeframe, we could go back through the complaint 2 

files, disclosure files and have a look, I'm sorry I can't give you an exact date but it 3 

certainly has -- 4 

Q. That's fine, so what you're saying it's pretty much standard, embedded practice currently?  5 

A. Yes, subject to what a survivor's wishes might be, yes.  6 

Q. And so when somebody contacts the office, whether by phone or by e-mail relating to a 7 

different form of abuse that doesn't include sexual abuse, at that point that initial discussion 8 

you've explained taking us through the summary document that there's a triage process, isn't 9 

there? 10 

A. Yes.  11 

Q. And that triage process then involves referring that other complaint that might have no 12 

sexual abuse element by clergy or religious to another part of the church?  13 

A. Yes.  14 

Q. In your experience, when people are coming forward disclosing perhaps quite significant 15 

psychological or spiritual abuse, do you think that they're coming into that first initial 16 

contact wanting to be listened to and you're engaging with that interaction for the purpose 17 

of working out which track it needs to go on?  18 

A. Yes.  19 

Q. You said there might be a mismatch of expectations of that interaction at that point?  20 

A. Yes.  21 

Q. What do you think would be best practice to manage that difference of expectations in that 22 

initial discussion?  23 

A. It very clearly explained to the survivor or the caller or correspondent what our scope is for 24 

the office.  25 

Q. So clarity as the response?  26 

A. Yes.  27 

Q. I can imagine that for some people who have taken up the courage to step forward and 28 

articulate what happened to them, even if it's in a small sense not necessarily in an 29 

expanded dialogue or narrative, that that might be quite a little bit abrupt to get that 30 

message actually you've come to the wrong door?  31 

A. We do try in a pastoral way to clarify that and, as I explained earlier, we do try and, as 32 

gently as possible, hand over that person to the correct referral.  The scope of our office is 33 

set and clear, and therefore it's important that we are able to, as you said, triage those callers 34 
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to the appropriate place.  1 

Q. I think you say in your evidence, don't you, that in terms of the resourcing for your job, it's 2 

not really practicable with the current resourcing to contemplate a single process that might 3 

be a response to all forms of abuse?  4 

A. Yes.  5 

Q. In terms of that resourcing dialogue within the church, aside from resourcing issues, do you 6 

sense an appetite for change so that there is a single process that people can come into with 7 

all complaints of all forms of abuse, irrespective of whether it's a clergy or religious a lay or 8 

a volunteer?  9 

A. There could be, yes, there is perhaps an appetite.  I would need to gather more feedback 10 

about that.  11 

Q. And putting your leadership role into the mix, has that been a priority for you in terms of 12 

leadership to lead a conversation in the church around a single process for all forms of 13 

abuse?  14 

A. Not at this point it hasn't, no.  15 

Q. In terms of the documentation that a person who is in the right -- has come to the right door, 16 

what do you require from them at that initial point it's not simply an e-mail describing what 17 

happened to them is it, do you require some -- I think there's a reference in the document to 18 

previously having required somebody to have a witness signature, or to provide proof of 19 

identity.  Does that no longer exist?  20 

A. Sorry, when they -- sorry, could you just ask that question again please?   21 

Q. There's a reference in the documents, I might call it up in a moment, but it sounds like this 22 

is not current practice.  There's a reference in the documents that when a person was 23 

making a complaint they were required to have their signature witnessed and then that was 24 

shifted to consideration of requiring them to provide photographic identification?  25 

MS McKECHNIE:  Could Ms Noonan see the document please.  26 

CHAIR:  Yes, I think so, particularly if it's one that's not current.  27 

QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  This is a Complaints Assessment 28 

Committee meeting which is prior to the time that you joined.  29 

A. Okay.  30 

Q. On 24 May 2017.  It's CTH0009039.  There's a reference on the second page of the 31 

document in the middle of the page under paragraph (h) on page 2 of the document.  32 

I haven't taken you to the first page, Ms Noonan, but just to orientate you, this is the 33 

National Professional Standards Response Committee which existed before the Complaints 34 
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Assessment Committee came into effect.   1 

A. Okay, yes.  2 

Q. And there's a reference there, you'll see, to there was also discussion on the need for 3 

complainants' signatures to be witnessed on the NOPS consent to proceed forms and a 4 

suggestion was made that --  5 

MS McKECHNIE:  Ma'am could we go back to the first page.  6 

MS ANDERSON:  I have explained the date, it's 24 May 2017 before Ms Noonan joined NOPS 7 

but we can easily flip -- 8 

WITNESS:  No, that's fine.  9 

CHAIR:  In fact at the top it says "Auckland complainant 13/2017", it's about that date is it?   10 

MS ANDERSON:  Yes, 24 May 17, well before Ms Noonan has come into the organisation, so 11 

I'm simply trying to establish current practice relative to what might have happened 12 

historically.  13 

CHAIR:  Yes, okay.     14 

QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  So am I right, judging from your face, 15 

that is no longer current practice?   16 

A. No, it's not current practice.  17 

Q. So it's simply an e-mail comes in and there's a response from the relevant person in the 18 

office?  19 

A. There is a consent form that we ask people to sign, and a copy of that is attached, is 20 

available at the back of A Path to Healing.  That may be sent at that initial contact phase.  It 21 

really -- we are guided by the survivor as to where they are in that initial contact.  They 22 

may be ready to receive consent forms, privacy policy, the three-page summary, a link to 23 

our website, they may be ready for all that information or they may just want to receive a 24 

copy of the summary, or they may not want anything at that stage, they just want an initial 25 

contact.  So not -- we need to treat every single contact differently, but at the end of the day 26 

we do require to have a consent form signed by a survivor.  27 

Q. So that's tracking over time, it looks like an attempt to minimalise the administrative 28 

responsibility on the survivor as to what they need to do to engage?  29 

A. Yes.  30 

CHAIR:  Not minimalise, I think minimise.  31 

MS ANDERSON:  Minimise, a reduction of.  32 

CHAIR:  Yes, ease the burden for the survivor of providing too much information at that stage.  33 

A. Yes, yes, thank you.  34 
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QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  At this initial point of contact, whether 1 

it's come in by e-mail or by phone, we've heard, and I'm sure you're very aware of the 2 

well-established proposition that the most important thing is to be believed?   3 

A. [Nods].  4 

Q. In terms of standing back now and looking at the process that you've described, at what 5 

point do you think it's possible for a survivor to have that sense, is that at the point of initial 6 

contact or is it much later in the process?  7 

A. I couldn't really speculate as to the mind of a survivor regarding that.  We do our very best 8 

to explain the process, that it is an inquiry process, and they will be invited to meet with an 9 

investigator to share their experience and then that's turned into a statement which they will 10 

approve and then there is a report provided to the Complaints Assessment Committee.  11 

Q. So it might be that it's only at the point where they're notified of the outcome that their 12 

complaint has been upheld, that a survivor might have that sense of being believed at that 13 

point in time?  14 

A. At that point in the protocol process that is when a decision is made by a bishop or 15 

congregational leader whether on the balance of probabilities that complaint should be 16 

upheld.  17 

Q. And you will have heard Tom Doyle's evidence on Monday, where one of the comments he 18 

made was what's the first thing or the best thing you can do and he said listen, you can 19 

listen. 20 

A. [Nods].  21 

Q. You've made reference in your witness statement at two points that you're not a listening 22 

service.  Again, do you think there might be a mismatch of what a survivor might be 23 

looking for in that initial engagement and during the process and what you're in fact 24 

offering?  25 

A. I think I need to clarify what I meant by a listening service.  Our process is an inquiry, an 26 

investigation.  Someone has made an allegation of significant and serious harm.  It's 27 

important that we look into that.  So if someone comes to us and shares and discloses 28 

sexual abuse or sexual misconduct, we're not going to just leave it, it's important to us and 29 

for the church that that matter is properly looked into and investigated.   30 

Q. There's a very strong focus in the principles in  the Path to Healing, isn't there, there's 31 

reference to finding the truth? 32 

A. Yes.  33 

Q. And it might be at this point I'll call up just the principles so I can orientate the 34 
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Commissioners to that.   1 

A. Certainly.  2 

Q. It's document CTH0001487.  Just moving through to page 3 of that document.  Again, just 3 

to orientate the Commissioners to this document, the first part here is the -- sets out the 4 

principles, and the second part sets out procedures.  Am I right, Ms Noonan, this is actually 5 

quite a slimmed down version relative to previous editions of the Path to Healing?  6 

A. Yes.  7 

Q. There's been attempt to make it accessible through not having it?  8 

A. An attempt to, yes.  9 

Q. And we see that first principle there is looking after people on page 1?  10 

A. Yes.  11 

Q. And then we see the next principle is the sanctity of pastoral relationships?  12 

A. Yes.  13 

Q. We see the principle 3 is fairness and natural justice?  14 

A. Yes.  15 

Q. Under that heading it says, in any inquiry the quest for the truth will be paramount, and 16 

then we see principle 4, responsibility?  17 

A. [Nods].  18 

Q. So those are when you're referring to somebody coming seeking a review to see whether it's 19 

been undertaken in accordance with the principles and the policy, those are the principles 20 

underpinning the approach?  21 

A. Yes.  22 

Q. And there's been a slight revision to those principles from earlier iterations of A Path to 23 

Healing?  24 

A. Yes, the spirit, I would say the spirit of each of those principles remains, some of the 25 

wording we've attempted to try and clarify those principles, but the spirit of each of them I 26 

would say, I would propose has remained.  27 

Q. And in previous iterations what we don't see in these principles, which is in the earlier 28 

versions, is the reference to the potential for mistaken or unfounded accusations?  29 

A. Yes.  30 

Q. That's dropped out?  31 

A. Yes.  32 

Q. It's not a guiding principle here.  Are you able to share any reflections on why that principle 33 

no longer features?  34 
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A. I'm not sure if it would have been a principle, it may perhaps have been an indicator or a 1 

fleshing out of an overarching principle.  It is a case, a matter that sometimes there are 2 

incorrect disclosures made, perhaps incorrect identification or someone is simply mistaken.  3 

Is there a need to have it included in the principles as an indicator?  No.  4 

Q. So in terms of the -- just looking at two of the principles, the first being looking after 5 

people with the reference there to providing a compassionate response to a complainant, 6 

treating people with compassion, respect and fairness, and then with principle 3 as a 7 

counterpoint, that in any inquiry the quest for the truth will be paramount.  So I'm just 8 

interested in the paramountcy of that principle of truth?  9 

A. You're concerned about the wording.  10 

Q. Yes, over -- well, the emphasis on finding the truth in both the principle and the practice?  11 

A. It is an inquiry process and I would -- I'm making an assumption here, that a survivor 12 

would want to know that the person who they have identified is the respondent that hurt 13 

them and harmed them, and sometimes we have survivors come to us and they're not sure, 14 

they can't identify a person that's harmed them.  So it's our job to do the work to try and 15 

identify who they may be referring to.  So it is our job to try and get to the truth of the 16 

matter, to ensure that they're appropriate and the right person is held to account.  17 

Q. So that quest for truth is not in the sense of a quest to confirm that the person was abused, 18 

it's a focus on the truth that a particular person did something to another person, would that 19 

be a way to characterise what you're saying?  20 

A. I probably prefer to have it as the truth, getting to the truth or getting to the bottom of the 21 

matter is more holistic.  We do want to ensure that the right person is held to account.  22 

Q. And again, referring back to the evidence of Tom Doyle where he's drawn this distinction 23 

of it's not necessarily a matter even of an individual saying "I did this wrong", it's the 24 

collective "we did this wrong to you". 25 

A. [Nods].  26 

Q. Are you able to apply that concept and interpret this principle in light of that reflection from 27 

Tom Doyle that the truth is about what the church has done to the individual as opposed to 28 

necessarily what a member of the clergy or religious has done to the individual?  29 

A. I don't think I would -- I don't interpret it that way.  I think we do look when we're talking 30 

about truth it is the holistic, we're listening to the survivor, hearing their story, trying to find 31 

information that can help support that disclosure of abuse, and again, being able to hold the 32 

right person accountable for harm that's been caused.  33 

Q. So that accountability of the individual becomes quite important?  34 
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A. Yes, and that includes if someone in leadership has failed to act, that accountability is also 1 

important.  2 

Q. And am I fair to characterise that some of the feedback that you've had from survivors is 3 

that the Inquiry process in fact feels a little bit like an inquisition?  4 

A. Anywhere that that -- a survivor has been left with that impression I apologise for.  That is 5 

certainly not our intention.  It is an inquiry process, there is an investigation undertaken.  6 

That needs to be undertaken sensitively and with care.  And times where we have failed to 7 

meet that standard, then I apologise for.  We certainly -- and we also have -- we have a 8 

complaints and concerns policy on our website and we do ask and invite all parties to an 9 

investigation process to share their feedback to us particularly if there's a concern around 10 

their treatment or how the investigation process was conducted, including the work of our 11 

office.  12 

Q. Do you think perhaps there might have been an undue focus on this aspect of principle 3 13 

that's perhaps affected the way survivors have experienced the process that's administered 14 

through your office?  15 

A. If that's the feedback that you've received from survivors, I absolutely take that on board.  16 

The four principles sit together.  17 

Q. I'm going to turn now and move through some documents with you.  The purpose of doing 18 

this is to draw out some different threads that we'll just have topic by topic as they emerge 19 

in the documents a discussion about.  The first one is the terms of reference in relation to 20 

the Complaints Assessment Committee, it's document EXT0000229.  So again, these terms 21 

of reference were set shortly before you came on board at the very -- the top of the left page 22 

on the second page there's a date of 11 September 2017?  23 

A. Yes.  24 

Q. So this is the result of the discussion that you referenced as starting in 2016 leading through 25 

to the change in the NOPS role for investigations and the establishment of this new 26 

Committee. 27 

A. That's my understanding, yes.   28 

Q. And you're familiar with the terms of reference?  29 

A. Yes.  30 

Q. So we see just on the top of page 1 if we can call out the purpose.  To ensure the complaints 31 

of abuse received by NOPS are dealt with in a compassionate, sensitive, equitable and 32 

timely manner in accordance with the principles.  Going down to calling out the next part 33 

clause 2, remit of the Committee.  So we see that the Committee is to receive all complaints 34 
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of abuse and it's the Committee to appoint the appropriate trained persons as investigators.  1 

Is that the process currently, that the Committee appoints the investigators?  2 

A. That has effectively been delegated to our office.  3 

Q. And the role of assessing the report and determining whether or not a complaint should be 4 

upheld and that's all straightforward?  5 

A. That remains with the committees.  6 

Q. And again to make any recommendations, and at 2.5 to analyse complaints to identify any 7 

systemic issues and advise the National Professional Standards Committee of these?  8 

A. Yes.  9 

Q. So clearly systemic issues are well and truly within the remit of this Committee?  10 

A. To identify, yes.  11 

Q. And am I right that NOPS effectively access the secretariat and provides the agendas, the 12 

material for the meetings and records the discussions of this Committee?  13 

A. Yes.  14 

Q. And you in your director role attend these committee meetings?  15 

A. I do attend, not always though.  16 

Q. But when you're not able to somebody would attend in your place?  17 

A. The Professional Standards Officer always attends, I may or may not attend.  18 

Q. And then just coming down to the membership of it, six members appointed by the 19 

New Zealand Catholic Bishops Council following consultation with the Director.  A 20 

mixture to be lay people with proven expertise in a field related to the mandate.  There's a 21 

reference there at 3.6 and 3.7 to a priest advisor and a religious advisor being nominated.  22 

What's the purpose of the person attending in that capacity in the Committee meeting?  23 

A. My understanding is that they are able to give advice to the Committee members around 24 

perhaps church process or church protocols.  25 

Q. Processes and protocols relating to what sort of -- are you able to give me an example?  26 

A. Perhaps canon law or some institutional knowledge about a diocese perhaps.  27 

Q. So we turn over to section 4 on the next page, we see there's a requirement for a minimum 28 

of four meetings held at quarterly intervals.  In fact there are generally speaking more than 29 

four meetings a year, aren't there, of this Committee?  30 

A. I understand, yes.  31 

Q. So they tend almost to meet bimonthly?  32 

A. Perhaps on average, yes.  33 

Q. Sometimes with quite a gap between meetings with the maximum gap I think of four 34 
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months?  1 

A. Yes.  2 

Q. So that meeting schedule can impact on the pace at which a matter is resolved, isn't it, in 3 

terms of a decision?  4 

A. Yes, it can, yes.  5 

Q. And especially if somebody gets caught over that end of November into January/February 6 

where I think we often see the gaps in the meeting times?  7 

A. Yes.  8 

Q. So if something's gone to a November meeting and the Committee decides another aspect 9 

needs to be investigated it might be quite a while before it can come back?  10 

A. We have now -- the Committee have identified that issue of delay and they have been able 11 

to bring together meetings via Zoom, so not having to meet in person which is able to help 12 

facilitate meetings more regularly if necessary.  13 

Q. Just moving down to section 5, "Method of Working", you see it spells out the role of the 14 

Professional Standards Officer in your office, so to be a link between the Committee and 15 

the NOPS functions?  16 

A. Yes.  17 

Q. Ensuring all complaints within the agreed criteria are referred to the Police.  So is that the 18 

role of the PSO to undertake that activity?  19 

A. Sorry, which -- I'm just trying to speed read, oh 5.2.  20 

Q. Yes.   21 

A. With discussion with myself usually in that situation.  22 

Q. So ultimately is it your call as to whether something is referred to the Police?  23 

A. It would be a discussion between the PSO, the Professional Standards Officer and myself, 24 

we work very collaboratively.  25 

Q. And one of you will contact the Police.  I don't think anything turns on who contacts the 26 

Police?  27 

A. Sure, yes.  28 

Q. And then we see that at 5.3 the PSO will notify the Chair when a complaint is received that 29 

it's to be dealt with under A Path to Healing and then draft terms of reference and appoint 30 

an investigator and if required an assistant investigator.  So that reference to who then 31 

drafts terms of reference, it's a little unclear from the language whether that's the Chair or 32 

the PSO that drafts those terms of reference?  33 

A. It had been the Chair, however the Chair has since delegated that to our office to be able to 34 
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undertake the -- to be able to have the statements of work and the terms of reference 1 

provided in a timely manner.  2 

Q. Do you run a register, a delegated authority?  3 

A. No, but that's something that we will do.  4 

Q. Coming down to 5.10, it's the PSO's role to analyse complaints to identify any systemic 5 

issues and advise the NPSC of these?  6 

A. [Nods].  7 

Q. So is that a core function of the Professional Standards Officer in your office?  8 

A. Again, that would be if we received correspondence from the Complaints Assessment 9 

Committee regarding a systemic issue we would discuss that and then see whether or not 10 

that is a matter for us to manage or is there something that needs to be referred to the 11 

National Professional Standards Committee, perhaps with a recommendation or perhaps a 12 

piece of -- a paper or something of that nature.  13 

Q. So just standing back from that, the Complaints Assessment Committee, those are people 14 

who volunteered their time?  15 

A. Yes.  16 

Q. And the NOPS office is effectively the secretariat and that you provide the schedule of the 17 

meetings, the place of the meetings, and the information packs to the members to be 18 

discussed at the meetings?  19 

A. Yes.  20 

Q. And the Complaints Assessment Committee receives, when they're looking at a particular 21 

individual complaint that they're required to make a decision on, they've got a copy of the 22 

investigator's report?  23 

A. Yes.  24 

Q. And then they've got a copy of all of the other material sitting underneath that statement?  25 

A. Yes.  26 

Q. It doesn't appear to us that there's an advice paper that goes to those Committee members 27 

about what they might do in relation to that material, they've just got the pack?  28 

A. Yes.  29 

Q. And so in terms of their decision-making role, is the outcome dependent on their own 30 

individual assessments of what they're reading and then the collective decision-making 31 

about whether to uphold a complaint or not?  32 

A. Yes.  33 

Q. And in terms of the discussion point that you've just raised about well, if the Complaints 34 
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Assessment Committee asked us to think about a systemic issue, is that something that on 1 

your understanding there to identify through their process of looking at all of these files and 2 

feed that back to NOPS, or is that something that under these terms of reference the 3 

Professional Standards Officer should be feeding up to the Committee?  4 

A. Potentially both.  I think if either NOPS or the Complaints Assessment Committee are 5 

recognising trends or issues or concerns through the complaints reports and supporting 6 

information, then that information needs to be brought to attention.  7 

MS ANDERSON:  I think, Madam Chair, that might be a point to pause and take the afternoon 8 

adjournment.  9 

CHAIR:  Yes, we'll do that.  Ms Noonan, it's our process that once you're being questioned by 10 

counsel assist that you don't speak to anybody about your evidence during the breaks, do 11 

you understand that?   12 

A. Yes, I do.  13 

Q. There's a small exception, that is, if you think of something that you think should be raised 14 

or if you want to ask a question speak to your counsel and she will liaise with counsel 15 

assist.   16 

A. Okay, thank you.   17 

Q. Thank you. 18 

Adjournment from 3.31 pm to 3.49 pm 19 

CHAIR:  Thank you all.   20 

QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  Just returning to the same document we 21 

were in just before the break which is the Complaints Assessment Committee terms of 22 

reference.  Just while we're waiting for that come up, an appointment will come out in the 23 

other documents that we'll take you to, but the members of this Committee, their names are 24 

not in the public domain are they?   25 

A. No.  26 

Q. Do you want to comment on the reasons for that before we go through the other aspects of 27 

this document?  28 

A. That was a policy decision of the National Safeguarding Professional Standards Committee.  29 

Q. We'll come to some documents that will comment on the reasons for that a little bit later.  30 

So we see at 8, if we can just call up just that last part of that page there.  So we can see that 31 

it's part of your role as Director under these terms of reference to carry out an annual audit 32 

of the work of the Complaints Assessment Committee.  We can see the purpose of that 33 

audit set out at 8.2, ensuring that all complaints are dealt with in accordance with the 34 
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relevant principles and procedures, that they're dealt with in a timely and sensitive manner, 1 

that there's consistency of approach and that complete records are maintained.  And that 2 

you're required to produce a written report with the matters identified there, we don't need 3 

to read those out.  And that you're to provide the Chair of the Committee at 8.5 with a draft 4 

report and invite a response, so that's in relation to the reporting requirements specified 5 

above.  And that you produce a written report, including the observations of the Complaints 6 

Assessment Committee to the National Professional Standards Committee.  So that's the 7 

Committee that Phil Hamlin Chairs, isn't it?  8 

A. Yes.  9 

Q. In terms of the conducting of those audits, can you explain the approach to that activity?  10 

A. So in my role I haven't undertaken an audit of the work of the Complaints Assessment 11 

Committee, given the level of involvement of myself in the oversight and management of 12 

the complaints process, there's perhaps a conflict there and therefore I have not undertaken 13 

annual audits.  But I absolutely take your point about these terms of reference therefore 14 

needing to be updated to reflect that.  15 

Q. So, I think you've put your finger on the button in terms of a potential oddity perhaps of 16 

you auditing the work of the Committee that you're providing all of the information to?  17 

A. Yes.  18 

Q. But there is, of course, the Committee's function which is a decision-maker?  19 

A. Yes.  20 

Q. And in terms of auditing that for consistency so you're not undertaking that audit, is that an 21 

activity that you've outsourced?  22 

A. I haven't outsourced that, no.  What we have outsourced are individual reviews if a survivor 23 

requests such a review to be undertaken.  24 

Q. But again, that's an example of a proactive, somebody's reaching in and you're responding 25 

as opposed to how is the system actually functioning?  26 

A. Absolutely, and I take your point, and I think it is something that we do need to have a 27 

planned approach about, absolutely agree.  28 

Q. But it hasn't been happening to date?  29 

A. It has not been happening to date, no.  30 

Q. I'm going to move from this document to a procedures manual.  It's document 31 

CTH0002773.  This is, when it comes up on the screen, you'll see the front page that it's a 32 

procedures manual dated December 2017 in draft.  We haven't seen a final version and we 33 

don't know whether this procedure is in effect or being applied.  Are you able to clarify that 34 
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for us?  1 

A. That isn't in effect.  That was a redraft effectively of the A Path to Healing protocol.  The 2 

finalised version is the one that you have in your papers which is the 2020 version.  3 

Q. Which has a slimmed down version of the procedures component relative to previous 4 

versions --  5 

A. Yes.  6 

Q. -- of that?  7 

A. Yes.  8 

Q. You wouldn't have been involved in preparing this draft because it's before your time?  9 

A. Yes, that's right.  10 

Q. Is it a document that you are familiar with?  11 

A. I did review it as part of my work in gathering feedback around the 2010 Path to Healing 12 

document.  13 

Q. There's just one matter I'll touch on briefly from it given it's not operational policy, but 14 

there's a concept in here I'd just like to ask you about.   15 

A. Yes.  16 

Q. It's at clause 2.7.2 on page 7 of the document.  If we just call that out please.  See the 17 

procedures specifying for the complainant to bring a person whom they trust.  This is in 18 

reference to an interview, and/or the complainant might ask the pastoral companion to 19 

attend.  Can you explain to us what the reference to "pastoral companion" there is?  20 

A. That is a new initiative that has flowed through into the 2020 A Path to Healing version.  21 

That is still a work in progress.  The concept is to have someone who is able to liaise with a 22 

survivor and the National Office for Professional Standards.  So we have drafted a role 23 

description of that role and have sent that out to each bishop to consider who might be an 24 

appropriate person.  They are not a support person or an advocate for that person in the 25 

sense that's referred to in that paragraph.  What effectively they will be is a liaison person, 26 

someone on the ground in the diocese within which the survivor lives who is very familiar 27 

with A Path to Healing process and procedures.  So they can help to navigate what's 28 

happening next, what will be expected of them next.  So having that person there, if 29 

necessary, for some survivors may not want to have that engagement.  It's really to help 30 

support our office engage with survivors at that operational level.  As I said earlier, that is 31 

still a work in progress, I am aware of one diocese who has appointed someone to that role.  32 

We will undertake training of those pastoral companions and the name may change as well, 33 

whether or not the term "pastoral companion" is a true reflection of what that role needs to 34 
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be.  And so that training will be undertaken by our office.  1 

Q. So which diocese is it that has appointed somebody to that role?  2 

A. I understand it's the Auckland Diocese.  3 

Q. And I think this draft procedures manual indicated that those persons would be volunteers, 4 

is that the current approach?  5 

A. It would be entirely up to that diocese, it may be a paid position or may be a voluntary 6 

position.  7 

Q. And in your leadership role to influence outcomes, what would you be recommending to 8 

them as to whether it would be preferable to have a volunteer or a paid professional person 9 

in that role?  10 

A. My recommendation would be that it would be a paid role.  11 

Q. And your reasons for that?  12 

A. I believe it brings a certain level of accountability to that role.  It will be a very important 13 

role.  It will be, as I've said, in some cases a link between our office and the survivor on the 14 

ground.  So with that comes responsibility and so my recommendation would be that that 15 

responsibility is remunerated.  16 

Q. Because with that remunerated role becomes reliability as to availability?  17 

A. Absolutely, yes.  18 

Q. Is there any sense that there's resistance in the diocese or congregations to the idea of this 19 

being a paid position?  20 

A. I haven't encountered resistance at all.  It's been clearly explained in a covering letter to the 21 

bishops that it is up to them how they wish to progress this matter.  But I'm sure they 22 

probably heard here now that the recommendation is that it is a paid role, and perhaps 23 

talking with you now it might be appropriate for me to reinforce that with them.  24 

Q. And I don't think, probably because the Commission hasn't asked for it in terms of our 25 

section 20 notices, but we probably haven't seen that communication.  Will you be -- would 26 

the bishops, will you be happy provide a copy to us?  27 

A. Absolutely, we can provide the draft role description that's been provided.  Because when 28 

we first put this proposal to the bishops there we receive feedback saying could you please 29 

provide a little more detail.  So there was an absolute enthusiasm for these roles to take 30 

place, and to occur they wanted more guidance from our office about what the role would 31 

look like.  32 

Q. So when was that first introduction of the concept to the bishops?  33 

A. It would have been 2020, or 19.  34 
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Q. We see the reference to this here, don't we, in the 2019 document?  1 

A. Yes, and it did come through into the 2020 version.  Either 2019 or 2020, I'm sorry I would 2 

need to check my files to see when that correspondence was provided to the bishops.  3 

Q. In terms of operationalising this, would that timeframe that you've expressed where it might 4 

be a reference in the 2017 document referenced in the 2020 A Path to Healing but not yet 5 

operationalised, is that the normal kind of timeframe you would be thinking about for a 6 

change such as this that might require financial resourcing from the diocese or the 7 

congregation?  8 

A. I can't really speculate on the financial -- 9 

Q. Taking that side out of it, we're just trying to get an indication of, you know, when you're 10 

driving change, and having the leadership conversations that you're having with others in 11 

the church --  12 

A. Yes.  13 

Q. -- is that the normal kind of timeframe that you would think for a process from discussion 14 

through to being at the point which, I think what you're saying is that you're at the early 15 

stage of operationalising this?  16 

A. Actually I'd say it's further along than the early stage.  I think the early stage I would 17 

describe as when I first communicated this, it has been in the draft documents that have 18 

been circulated to bishops, so there was certainly an awareness that this was a concept and 19 

a role that we felt was important to bring to life.  Then I undertook that it was my role to 20 

explain what that needed to look like on the ground, and the bishops are taking that advice 21 

as to how we see it working to support the work of our office.  22 

Q. Thank you.  I think that clarifies that aspect. 23 

A. Okay, thank you.  24 

Q. There's one other aspect in this document, before I move off it, which I don't think I need to 25 

take you to.  The proposition in the procedures manual is that the Chair will decide whether 26 

a matter is within the scope of A Path to Healing.  Is that what happens in fact at the 27 

moment?  28 

A. No, at the moment a matter will come to our office and our office will make that 29 

assessment if it fits within our scope.  If we are not sure or we're uncertain, we are able to, 30 

and we would, refer the matter to the Committee for their -- with very few details, just an 31 

outline of the complaint to check if they were comfortable that it did fit within the scope of 32 

the office.  33 

Q. So that's the procedure that largely sits with you but in areas of doubt there might be an 34 
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interaction with the Committee?  1 

A. In areas of more significant doubt we would err on the side of it fits within the scope.  2 

Q. I'm going to take you to an e-mail series in May 2018, the document reference number is 3 

CTH0008802.  The e-mail chain actually begins at the bottom of the second page just to 4 

orientate you to that, if we just call out.  So you can see that that's an e-mail from you, I 5 

think are you happy to accept this is an e-mail you had an exchange with someone on the 6 

Committee?  7 

A. Yes.  8 

Q. Where you're attaching a report following receipt of a complaint from the seminarian on 9 

placement?  10 

A. Yes.  11 

Q. And because there's a reference to because of certain persons being overseas there have 12 

been unavoidable delays due to time differences.  Do you have a recollection of what that 13 

delay might be?  Do you recall this exchange of e-mails?  14 

A. I absolutely recall the subject matter of the complaint.  The material not -- sorry.  15 

Q. Not the substance?  16 

A. Not that exact line about -- 17 

Q. You see that it refers in that last paragraph, perhaps if we could just call that out.  So it 18 

refers to a discussion at the most recent CAC meeting which was in May 2018 about who 19 

makes decisions regarding complaints.  So you're indicating you think it's appropriate that 20 

the Committee be advised of the complaint and your recommendation?  21 

A. [Nods].  22 

Q. You're asking for them to review the report and advise.  If we just return to the top of 23 

page 1, you can see a response coming back a couple of days later.  Shall we just expand 24 

the front part of that half of the document, do you just want to take a moment to read that. 25 

A. Mmm-hmm.  26 

Q. So you can see clearly you've made a recommendation it doesn't need to proceed under A 27 

Path to Healing.  But you've got quite a bit of pushback here, haven't you?  28 

A. Yes.  29 

Q. In terms of it falling within the work of NOPS?  30 

A. From one of the Committee members, yes.  And just to clarify, this was because -- I took 31 

this matter to the Committee because it wasn't clear if it should, and that is what had been 32 

agreed that if there was uncertainty about whether something did fall within the scope of 33 

NOPS, the Committee wanted to be able to make that final judgment on that.  34 
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Q. Yes, and I think that dialogue that you've just referred to, so you've got quite a clear 1 

recollection of the discussion?  2 

A. That was referred to in that previous --  3 

Q. Yes?  4 

A. Yes, that was the, yes, flow-on from that.  5 

Q. That discussion's not actually reflected in the minutes but that's not essential for the current 6 

points.  You see the second -- just moving down the page slightly, so it refers to -- sorry, 7 

just moving up slightly.  There we go.  What has happened is that you, as acting as the 8 

Professional Standards Officer, have carried out a preliminary assessment to establish 9 

whether the complaint has substance such that further steps should be taken.  That's an 10 

unusual expression given the thresholds and triaging we've been talking about.  What's your 11 

understanding of that assessment about whether a complaint's got substance there, how do 12 

you interpret that?  13 

A. In that situation I wasn't deciding if the complaint had substance.  What I was looking at is 14 

whether the complaint fell within the scope.  It is the role of the CAC to decide if a 15 

complaint has substance and whether it should be upheld or not.  16 

Q. And just moving down to the couple of reservations and suggestions that are identified 17 

there in the document?  18 

A. Yes.  19 

Q. So this is a reference to an interview of the complainant by phone that you've undertaken?  20 

A. An interview in order to flesh out some of the material that had initially been provided for 21 

the sole purpose of establishing if it fitted within the scope of A Path to Healing.  22 

Q. But in doing so, that might require going into requiring detail to be provided?  23 

A. A little more detail, yes, than had initially been provided.  24 

Q. And you're getting a bit of pushback here about the methodology of phone conversations 25 

for those purposes?  26 

A. [Nods].  27 

Q. Have you changed the office's practises as a result of this in relation to contact by phone for 28 

the purpose of obtaining further information from a survivor?  29 

A. No, we will contact them by phone or e-mail or letter, if necessary, if we do need to try and 30 

ascertain more information.  31 

Q. But there's a strong reference here is that face-to-face meetings invariably provide more 32 

information and a fuller expectation of the complaint?  33 

A. Yes, however, what we were looking for was the initial information to know if it fell within 34 
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a scope of A Path to Healing, and this, as I recall, was -- this e-mail was provided to all 1 

Complaints Assessment Committee members and from my recollection there was then 2 

some discussion via e-mail between the members regarding this particular Committee 3 

members' thoughts.  4 

Q. Do you recall, now that you've looked at this in more detail, why you thought this matter 5 

was not within the scope of matters your office deals with?  You may not have that detail at 6 

your fingertips?  7 

A. If I made that recommendation it would have been that in my view the matter did not fall 8 

within the definition of sexual abuse or sexual misconduct, which is set out in A Path to 9 

Healing.  Remembering, though, that it is a final decision of the CAC which is why 10 

I referred it to them.  11 

Q. Understanding that process, absolutely.  But the pushback you're getting in relation to scope 12 

is up there in, if we just scroll up the page, just at that beginning, sentence beginning "Put 13 

in another way this is not a matter that falls outside the work of NOPS.  It's pretty clear in 14 

the circumstances described that the complainant believed that the contact was sexual and 15 

unwanted and as a result he felt unsafe."  16 

   Having had that feedback from the Committee, has that caused you to recalibrate 17 

your approach to assessment of whether a matter is within or outside the scope of matters 18 

your office deals with?  19 

A. We had tried to clearly explain and define in 2020 version of A Path to Healing what we 20 

understand to be -- what the expectation is of sexual abuse and sexual misconduct.  But just 21 

to clarify too in relation to this matter, it was referred to the diocese or congregation in 22 

particular to respond to.  So the complaint wasn't lost, it was simply decided that it didn't 23 

fall within the scope of the NOPS process, however, it is a complaint, it is important that 24 

it's responded to, and in that case it was referred to the diocese or congregation who then 25 

was responsible for responding, investigating and managing that complaint.  26 

Q. Thank you, and just a final point in relation to this document, it's on page 2 with the 27 

numeral 4 in the margin.  So looking at this, it looks clear that you have, and for the 28 

purposes of your report, looked at whether there were previous complaints?  29 

CHAIR:  Just to clarify, is this part of the e-mail your part of the e-mail?   30 

MS ANDERSON:  This is part of the e-mail from the Committee member.  31 

CHAIR:  I just wanted to clarify that thank you.  32 

MS ANDERSON:  On page 1 he's identified a number of matters and this is the fourth matter.  33 

CHAIR:  Yes.    34 
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QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  So there's a reference here to somebody 1 

having -- that Monsignor Burnes, understanding there had been, in quote marks, 2 

"something about 15 years ago but it had not amounted to anything (or words to that 3 

effect)."  So the Committee member was surprised to read in your report that no other 4 

complaints had been received and was asking you to recheck.   5 

So my question in relation to that is, what is your process that you go through when 6 

you're trying to identify whether there are other complaints in relation to the same 7 

individual?   8 

A. If a complaint is accepted or agreed that it's within the scope of A Path to Healing, so the 9 

behaviour complained of is sexual abuse or sexual misconduct, then as part of the 10 

investigation process a key element is our independent investigator looking into a 11 

respondent's file or complaint files of a diocese or congregation to ascertain if there have 12 

been other complaints made.  13 

Q. And this reference here to something about 15 years ago but not amounted to anything, 14 

might that be a reference to something being known but not recorded necessarily in a 15 

document?  16 

A. I'm not really able to speculate on that, I'm sorry.  17 

Q. But what you're saying is the investigators are really relying on content and accuracy of the 18 

records that they're receiving from the relevant church authority in order to answer the 19 

question are there other complaints relating to this person. 20 

A. Relying on written material, yes, there may also be discussions with people, but generally 21 

we would expect the investigator to peruse and review all material held, relevant material 22 

held.  23 

CHAIR:  Could I just ask a couple of questions, Ms Anderson.  Just to be really clear about your 24 

view of your role.  It seems to me that your evidence is that you are the gate-keeper, if you 25 

like, and that's a horrible expression, I'm sorry I don't mean -- you use the word triage, that's 26 

a better phrase, I withdraw gate-keeper.  The triaging process you've got in front of you 27 

somebody who's given you some information and may have made a complaint, and they 28 

have said "This happened to me".   29 

A. Yes.  30 

Q. Or somebody else has said this has happened to somebody else.   31 

A. [Nods].  32 

Q. To what extent do you see it as your role to go beyond that simple allegation?  33 

A. We do.  34 
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Q. You do?  1 

A. We do if we think -- if we consider that we need to.  We would do that as part of what we 2 

would term our initial assessment.  3 

Q. And is it in the course of that that you would look to see if there were other complaints, for 4 

example?  5 

A. Possibly, it would be a case-by-case basis, yes.  6 

Q. So where does your role as the triager stop and the investigator's role start?  7 

A. So if it's not particularly clear, if perhaps someone has -- a survivor has contacted us and 8 

made a disclosure about abuse and has perhaps identified someone, we would do perhaps 9 

an initial look to see is the respondent alive, dead, were they around in that particular time.  10 

It is very much a case-by-case basis.  We do try very hard not to step into that investigation 11 

role, it is about us doing that initial assessment so we can have confidence as much as 12 

possible that it does fit within our scope.  If we think yes, it does and it is taken through A 13 

Path to Healing and it transpires actually it's not, that's okay, because that information can 14 

still be captured with the complaint with the survivor's consent and referred to the diocese 15 

or congregation to be able to manage that process.  So our role is, as you talked about, is to 16 

triage, to receive the complaint and ask enough questions to be able to confirm that it fits 17 

within our scope.  18 

Q. So if somebody says "I was raped by a priest in 1980 at a seminary"?  19 

A. Yes.  20 

Q. Is that enough for you to proceed to send it on, or do you make further inquiries?  21 

A. That would be enough for us to engage an investigator to meet with that person.  22 

Sometimes, depends on how fragile the survivor is.  If the survivor was able to give us a 23 

little more detail, perhaps about time, place, we would invite that information.  If we gauge 24 

that that survivor is not in a good place to talk to us over the phone or via e-mail to give us 25 

that information, we will instruct her, we will engage an investigator to go and have that 26 

face-to-face meeting.  27 

Q. So it's really a bit of this and a bit of that, isn't it?  28 

A. I think we do have a process, we do want an outcome, we want to be able to support the 29 

survivor, they've come to us with information, we want to make sure that that disclosure is 30 

dealt with in the most appropriate and sensitive way.  31 

Q. I think where I'm probably leading is this: If I'm the person who said "I was raped by a 32 

priest at the seminary", as a survivor I would want you to believe that first up.   33 

A. Yes.  34 
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Q. And then pass it on for investigation as promptly as possible.   1 

A. Yes.  2 

Q. So I'm just wondering how these other inquiries that you are making are helping me to feel 3 

that you're accepting my version at face value?  4 

A. I understand.  A seminary, are they able to explain the seminary, we also need to check that 5 

it's within a Catholic scope.  We want to make -- we just need to ensure it isn't perhaps 6 

another religious as well, religious denomination, so we just want to make sure that we, if 7 

we bring the complaint in and follow this through the Path to Healing, that we will have an 8 

outcome for that survivor.  So it is important to us that we do have enough information to 9 

show yes, it is within our scope.  And as I said earlier, we will err on the side of yes, let's 10 

get this investigation underway, let's -- and if we're wrong and perhaps it's physical, it 11 

wasn't actually sexual, that's okay, we will deal with that and manage that through.  So it is 12 

about trying to wrap around and do the best we can for that survivor with the information 13 

that we do have.  And not to traumatise or distress them by giving us information when we 14 

are going to ask them or invite them to meet with an investigator.  Does that answer your 15 

question?   16 

Q. Yes, it does, thank you very much for that clarification.   17 

A. Okay, thank you.     18 

QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  Just in reference to the discussion that 19 

the Chair has had with you about the person making contact and wanting to be believed, 20 

this is an aspect that we touched on previously. 21 

A. Yes.  22 

Q. And you weren't able to indicate where in the process that your office is operating, where 23 

that person might actually arrive at that, with that feeling of being believed.  My question to 24 

you is, when you're in this process of that initial interaction, what is the intention of the 25 

person from your office or you in that exchange?  Are you intending at that point to convey 26 

that you believe them?  27 

A. Yes, it's not our role to believe or disbelieve.  Our role is to engage with that survivor and 28 

gain their confidence so they will share their experience with us.   29 

Q. So not your role to believe or disbelieve?  30 

A. It's my role to take the information that we provided from a survivor at face value and to 31 

then put it -- to wrap around them and provide the support they need so they can continue to 32 

share their experience and to then support them through our Path to Healing process.  33 

Q. Because in terms of outcome, that comes ultimately from the relevant church authority?  34 
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A. That's right, yes.  1 

Q. And so the process you're running, you're kind of in the middle of the person coming in the 2 

door wanting to be believed and the outcome that they receive from another participant in 3 

the process?  4 

A. Yes.  5 

Q. About whether -- but the process that you run and their experience along that way including 6 

delays can affect how a survivor receives that ultimate outcome?  7 

A. Yes.  8 

Q. And we've had the John example that's been talked about today.   9 

A. Yes, yes.  10 

Q. Turning now to some of the Complaints Assessment Committee minutes.   11 

A. Yes.  12 

Q. The first one I'm going to is in November 2017, the number is CTH0009043.  Again, this is 13 

a meeting that you wouldn't have attended because you've not yet joined the office?  14 

A. Okay.  15 

Q. So just to orientate you to page 1 of that document -- sorry, just because of the sensitivity 16 

around some of the material it is headed up the minutes of the meeting on 28th of 2017(sic).  17 

Over on page 2 calling up section 5, this is a record of a discussion about systemic issues 18 

that the Committee's had.  You might just want to take a moment to read through those 19 

bullet points.  So we can see there's reference there to problems that have been caused by 20 

repeat offenders, so there's a systemic issue, identifying the need that there should be a 21 

clear and rapid dealing with the issue.   22 

   Looking at that second bullet point, am I right to say what it's recording is that this 23 

moment in time in November 2018 it's indicating that there's not necessarily a clear and 24 

rapid dealing with the issue?  Because what the Committee's identifying is that that's an 25 

issue, a point?  26 

A. Which is something I referred to earlier where we have introduced the use of safeguarding, 27 

safety plans to be able to help address that issue I think.  28 

Q. I think that's a very recent development that you've identified the safety plans?  29 

A. Yes.  30 

Q. So it wouldn't have been in place at this time?  31 

A. A congregational diocese may have had their own system of putting safeguards in place, 32 

and I wouldn't be able to comment on those without seeing material regarding them.  What 33 

our office has done is trying to introduce a consistent method of doing this, which is why 34 
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we've introduced the safety or safeguarding plan to be used in situations where a complaint 1 

is made and there's a respondent and active ministry.  2 

Q. When you first mentioned that in your evidence-in-chief, you refer to that coming into 3 

consideration after the conclusion, is the complaint upheld or not, but then you 4 

subsequently went on to clarify that that can be activated earlier in the process?  5 

A. Absolutely, once the complaint has been made and respondent identified, if they are in 6 

active ministry, our recommendation -- we would put a recommendation to the church 7 

authority about the use of a safety, or safeguarding plan.  8 

Q. And is your recommendation about the use of it as opposed to the content of what the 9 

church authority -- 10 

A. Both.  11 

Q. Both?  12 

A. Yes.  13 

Q. The third bullet point identified there is failure of bishops to treat seriously the issue of 14 

sexual abuse.  Does it surprise you to see this comment in a November 2018 document as 15 

being identified as a systemic issue at this point in our history?  16 

A. Yes, it does surprise me to see that there.  17 

Q. You've come on board to the NOPS role probably about four months or so after this 18 

meeting.  What comment do you have to make about your experience of interacting with 19 

bishops, this is not a reference to congregational leaders, it's simply a reference to bishops.   20 

A. [Nods].  21 

Q. In terms of treating seriously the issue of sexual abuse.  The question is effectively do you 22 

think what's reflected here is what you encountered when you came into the role and then 23 

the follow-on, would you say it's the same or different today?  24 

A. I would disagree with that statement.  In my view in my dealings with each of the bishops 25 

they treat very seriously the issue of sexual abuse.  They're very supportive of our office 26 

and the work we do.  They're very responsive when we engage with them around needing 27 

to obtain information about a respondent.  So yes, I would disagree with that statement.  28 

Q. But plainly a view of the Committee at the time?  29 

A. Yes.  30 

Q. The next bullet point deals with delays after the decisions, the recommendation's been 31 

passed to the church authority with recommendations, noting the opportunities for the 32 

complainant to find healing may be compromised through those delays?  33 

A. [Nods].  34 
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Q. Am I right that there are still delays in that process where the recommendation goes from 1 

the Complaints Assessment Committee to the church authority to the point at which the 2 

church authority's made its decision and advised the survivor of that?  3 

A. I think this morning when you spoke about that, that survivor who had experienced 4 

frustration, it's a work in progress, us working directly with a church authority to make sure 5 

that there is timely contact between the church authority and the survivor once it's got to 6 

that point in the process.  7 

Q. Why do you think there are delays at that point in the process, is that something you've got 8 

a view on or you simply can't comment on?  9 

A. I can't comment on that, sorry.  10 

Q. But it must be frustrating for you because no doubt survivors are coming to you saying 11 

what's happening?  12 

A. It can be challenging.  But the church authorities are generally very open to us taking that 13 

feedback from a survivor to them, so we do have -- and to develop that relationship with 14 

church authorities to be able to feedback those frustrations or challenges that are being 15 

expressed by a survivor regarding lack of contact.  16 

Q. So part of your role there is that you're attempting to manage up to the church authorities?  17 

A. If there's been feedback from a survivor around any time delays, yes.  18 

Q. We see down, just above "support needs to be available", there's a reference to the new role 19 

of pastoral companion and how this will work.  So again, indicating this concept, it was 20 

being discussed at this time?  21 

A. It was, and that's where we talked earlier about us trying to define what that is and where 22 

would be the best -- define that role and how that will work in practise.  23 

Q. And then we have the reference there to support needs to be available for the accused 24 

person, ongoing support, and monitoring which needs to be documented.   25 

A. [Nods].  26 

Q. What's your understanding of what support and monitoring would be standard to be 27 

available to an accused person through your inquiry process?  28 

A. We make it clear to a bishop or congregational leader, or developing one, that it's their 29 

responsibility to ensure and we expect that they will have support in place for the 30 

respondent.  We recognise and acknowledge that an investigation can be stressful and cause 31 

distress to a respondent.  So it is important that they are supported, well supported.  That 32 

may include mentoring, it may include some counselling.  We rely on the bishop or 33 

congregational leader to provide that or to facilitate that.  34 
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Q. But do you make recommendations about what should be made available, or is that at the 1 

discretion of the relevant church authority?  2 

A. We may make a recommendation, if we have had contact with the respondent and the 3 

respondent is particularly stressed or distressed we will feed that back to the bishop or 4 

congregational leader and ask that they make contact or arrange to have someone give that 5 

respondent appropriate support.  6 

CHAIR:  Can I just, sorry to interrupt again.  So in your office you don't just have contact with the 7 

survivors?   8 

A. No.  9 

Q. Also have contact with the respondents?  10 

A. Yes, we may, yes.  So we will notify -- when a complaint comes to us and we will notify 11 

the bishop or congregational leader and we will have a -- we will notify the respondent.  12 

We provide a letter of notification to their bishop or congregational leader and ask them to 13 

provide that letter which sets out some details of the complaint to the respondent.  We ask 14 

them to do that in a pastoral way so it's not an e-mail, a cold e-mail coming from us to 15 

them.  So we rely on the congregational leader or bishop or someone else if they've 16 

delegated that role to provide our letter of notification directly to the respondent.  17 

Q. And after that, is it common, regular practise for respondents then to get in touch with your 18 

office and to have, and/or have correspondence with you?  19 

A. They may, they may get in contact, they may seek an update of what's happening.  We will 20 

then also endeavour to provide them with information about the process.  A Path to Healing 21 

2020 provides -- we've developed a respondent's information sheet which sets out -- for 22 

them to have which sets out the process and what they can expect.  We appreciate that 23 

receiving a notification letter about a complaint can be distressing, so we have this written 24 

material which they can then later refer to, which will set out the process.  They may 25 

contact us to seek clarification, and if necessary we will refer them to the investigator or 26 

provide process information if that's appropriate.  27 

Q. Is it likely that the respondent would be talking to you or communicating with your office 28 

at the time that you're making a decision as to whether it's within scope or not?  29 

A. No.  30 

Q. Not at all?  31 

A. No, they won't be notified at that point.  32 

Q. So they don't get the letter of referral once you've decided it's in scope?  33 

A. Yes.  34 
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Q. Thank you.     1 

QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  Turning to an agenda for a meeting in 2 

September 2018, so this is after you're in your role.  3 

A. Yes.  4 

Q. Reference CTH0009027.  I can see just the agenda item there.  Clearly there's an intention 5 

for a discussion around an investigator's professional development?   6 

A. [Nods].  7 

Q. And an invitation for Committee members potentially to attend training that's being 8 

arranged?  9 

A. [Nods].  10 

Q. This would be training that you and your office were pulling together for investigators, is 11 

that right?  12 

A. Yes.  13 

Q. And what would have been the training need that you would have had in your mind at that 14 

point?  You may not be able to answer that, I don't have the minute here.   15 

A. I think from memory in November 18 it was about bringing those investigators together and 16 

explaining our expectations, hearing from them also around any queries or questions they 17 

had around our process, remembering that we'd only had probably 18 months of 18 

independent investigators and we were wanting to build up our panel of investigators, so 19 

inviting them to meet with us and to share experiences, share good best practice, and just to 20 

re-affirm with them as a group our expectations of their work.   21 

Q. So at this point you've had about 18 months under your belt of the process and at this 22 

point -- 23 

A. Six months, I started in February -- 24 

Q. Sorry, NOPS office, NOPS has begun an investigation in 2017, hasn't it, having an 25 

investigative role?  26 

A. Sorry, yes, yes, sorry.  27 

Q. So you wouldn't have been there all that time?  28 

A. No, no. 29 

Q. Absolutely not.  And so then at this point in time as a leader you think we need to get the 30 

investigators together at this point and have some training for them?  31 

A. Professional development, meeting them, getting them together so they could share, 32 

develop good best practice and talk to, if I recall correctly, it was talking to them about 33 

reports and what was really helpful to have in the reports.  From there we have developed 34 
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some criteria of what the Committee have felt really helpful to have in the report.  So this 1 

was probably start of a discussion with our investigators around how we can support them 2 

in their role as well.  I do recall at that gathering they fed back to us what they needed, if 3 

they were having challenges, accessing material from archives, how we could help, at 4 

NOPS, help facilitate them in their role to make sure they were getting all the information, 5 

all the access to material that they needed.  6 

Q. And the reference there to the Committee professional development, so you're turning your 7 

mind to does there need to be a structured programme for Committee members to maintain 8 

or develop expertise that will help them in their role?  9 

A. Yes.  10 

Q. Is that something, that professional development programme for the Committee members, 11 

is that up and running, or is it ad hoc, how does that work?  12 

A. It has been ad hoc, there hasn't been a planned approach, there have been some professional 13 

development to date.  I think a planned approach would be appropriate moving forward.  14 

Q. And then at paragraph item 7 is for discussion about whether the Committee should or can 15 

provide recommendations on quantum for ex gratia.  And am I right that currently it's not 16 

the practice of the Committee to make any recommendation to the church authority in 17 

relation to quantum of any ex gratia?  18 

A. That's right.  19 

Q. But it does sometimes make recommendations that ex gratia be considered?  20 

A. Yes.  21 

Q. You will have heard some discussion and language used by others about the purpose of a 22 

payment that's characterised as ex gratia in the redress process or response to a survivor. 23 

A. Yes.  24 

Q. When you're thinking about ex gratia payments to survivors, how would you characterise 25 

the purpose of those payments?  26 

A. My understanding is that those payments are to try and help a survivor rebuild their life.  27 

Q. It's a separate point I probably can't take any further as to what value might be put on that 28 

sum?  29 

A. [Nods].  30 

Q. But would it be fair to say that in your knowledge because NOPS receives back, doesn't it, 31 

information from the church authority about the outcome?  32 

A. We have now specifically put in place that process where we expect to receive back from 33 

the church authority an outline of the resolution reached.  It may refer to an ex gratia 34 



 682 

payment, we don't expect to be told the amount, but we believe we need to have a complete 1 

file from beginning to end held at our NOPS office and that includes an outline of the 2 

resolution reached between the survivor and the church authority.  3 

Q. If you're not requiring the information on quantum to come back to your office, where in 4 

the church entities would there be that collection of information that could provide a basis 5 

to do an analysis of is there a quality of outcome for similar sorts of offending, where that 6 

would sit in the churches?  7 

A. There isn't a place that that currently sits other than being pulled together for supporting 8 

information for this Inquiry.  9 

Q. Do you agree that that is an important piece of information for any analysis of the equality 10 

of the system that's being administered.  By equality I mean equal outcomes for people in 11 

similar circumstances irrespective of whether the measure is by harm or by some other 12 

component?  13 

A. I think church authorities having that information will strengthen their response to 14 

survivors.  15 

Q. Churches having that information about what's the collective picture?  16 

A. Yes.  17 

Q. Is that perhaps something you might be taking away from today?  18 

A. Taking a few things away, I think that will be one, absolutely, thank you.  19 

Q. The process that you've referred to of requiring that information to come forward so that 20 

you've got the bookend of what was the outcome, leaving aside the quantum, that's 21 

relatively new as well, isn't it?  22 

A. Yes.  23 

Q. Turning to November 2018 Complaints Assessment Committee minutes, CTH0009047.  24 

Just waiting for that to come up on the screen.  So we can see this is one of the matters 25 

discussed which is about a complaint that had been considered by the Committee but 26 

established through the investigation that the complaint falls outside of the scope of the 27 

Path to Healing?  28 

A. Sorry, could you tell me the date again?   29 

Q. 27 November 2018 and you have attended this meeting?  30 

A. Yes, thank you.  31 

Q. So we can see there, can't we, that even though -- so the matter's come into the system, it 32 

has been dealt with under the protocols your office runs, but now determined at this point 33 

that it falls outside the scope, because of the person being a lay worker or volunteer.  I don't 34 
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know, you won't know either, whether that fact emerged late in the piece because obviously 1 

that's a bright-line distinction, isn't it, as to whether something's in A Path to Healing or 2 

not?  3 

A. Yes.  4 

Q. But what the Committee agreed there was to write advising, though, that although it has 5 

been established that the complaint falls outside the scope of A Path to Healing, the 6 

Committee had had the benefit of reviewing the investigation report and recommended that 7 

the complaint be upheld on the balance of probabilities?  8 

A. [Nods].  9 

Q. The reason for bringing this up is to show that there are non-A Path to Healing matters 10 

coming through the Committee.  I presume that doesn't happen very often?  11 

A. No.  12 

Q. And just over to the top of the very next page so we see -- Jacinta's a person in your office 13 

isn't she?  14 

A. Yes.  15 

Q. Had advised that the complainant had asked to review the draft report before it came to the 16 

Committee.  So that would be a reference to -- what draft report, a draft investigator's 17 

report?  18 

A. Yes, yes.   19 

Q. And is that the process that a draft investigator's report will be reviewed by one or two of 20 

the Committee members and/or the Committee?  Is it standard practice that a draft report 21 

would go to the Committee or to one or two of the Committee members before it formally 22 

comes up for decision-making? 23 

A. The current process is that a draft report goes to the Chair of the Committee who will 24 

review it looking for any additional lines of inquiry that haven't yet been followed up.  25 

Q. And the Chair identifies those and those are followed up?  26 

A. Yes.  27 

Q. Leaving aside the point on the screen here just so the Commissioners have got the process, 28 

it can then come back up to the Committee?   29 

A. Yes. 30 

Q. And if the Committee as a whole still thinks there are other lines of investigation, it might 31 

be referred back so we might see that -- 32 

A. Yes. 33 

Q. -- happen in some complaints?  34 
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A. Some cases.  Ideally the point of taking it to the Chair in the first instance is to try and 1 

minimise that back and forth, ideally.  2 

Q. So we see here that the Committee's agreed that the complainant is going to be given an 3 

opportunity to look at the draft report and then the complaint would be considered?  4 

A. [Nods].  5 

Q. And my question to you is, this seems to me to reflect what you would expect to see in a 6 

process embedded with natural justice considerations and that in this particular instance, for 7 

reasons that we don't know, the Committee has said well yes, this complainant can see the 8 

draft investigator's report before it comes back up?  9 

A. [Nods].  10 

Q. And am I right that that would give the complainant an opportunity to comment on the 11 

context of it including whether what the survivor had said had been accurately captured?  12 

A. [Nods].  13 

Q. Whether there were other avenues of inquiry that should be followed, whether the scope 14 

that had defined the investigation had been correctly set?  15 

A. Yes.  16 

Q. That looks like quite a good process to me.   17 

A. It is, and while it's not -- I have to say it isn't standard practice, what we have done is 18 

outlined to investigators that we want them to give an outline to a survivor of what has been 19 

done in order to draft that report, so it isn't usual for a complainant to receive a copy of the 20 

draft report currently.  However, what we do ask is investigators to outline to a survivor 21 

who they've spoken to, what steps they've taken in trying to ascertain if in a survivor's 22 

perspective something's been missed.  23 

Q. But that's focused on process, isn't it, as opposed to content?  24 

A. Yes, no, I accept that, yes.  25 

Q. Given one of the fundamental principles in A Path to Healing is natural justice, do you 26 

think there's potentially a gap in the process in according natural justice to the survivor not 27 

having an opportunity to comment on what is actually going to the decision-maker?  28 

A. Definitely going to consider that and the feedback that you've just provided, yes.  29 

CHAIR:  Is there a reason why the draft report has not been systematically given it complainants?  30 

Is that a considered decision or is it just something that hasn't happened? 31 

A. I think it's something that hasn't happened.  I would perhaps get the view of the Complaints 32 

Assessment Committee, I'm very -- I think I can definitely take that to the Committee and 33 

to get their feedback about that question, and I'm sorry I can't answer that now but I can 34 
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certainly get their feedback about this point that's been raised.  1 

Q. Thank you.     2 

QUESTIONING BY MS ANDERSON CONTINUED:  But we know, don't we, that often at the 3 

other end of the process after the decision-making a lot of people have asked for a copy of 4 

the report after the decision is made and they've never been given a copy, or more recent 5 

practice is that they might get a heavily redacted version for the reasons that you addressed 6 

in your evidence-in-chief.  7 

A. Yes, yes.  So even a draft report would need to comply with restrictions under the Privacy 8 

Act.  9 

Q. Those are all sorts of considerations that are able to be managed in an employment 10 

investigation, for example, where it would be standard practice for the person who's 11 

brought the complaint to have an opportunity to comment on aspects of a report before it's 12 

finalised?  13 

A. Absolutely, and I will take that point to the Complaints Assessment Committee and also to 14 

the National Safeguarding Professional Standards Committee who are the group that create 15 

policy, and to get their feedback about that.  16 

Q. And just turning over to page 3 of that document, items 4 and 5, we see a reference there to 17 

systemic issues discussion and I think I'm right that in your time as Director this might be 18 

the one time that there's a reference to systemic issues in the Committee discussion 19 

reflecting what's happened?  20 

A. [Nods].  21 

Q. So the Committee's asking NOPS to complete an inventory of information held about 22 

offending within orders and dioceses and to include a review of the number and type of 23 

complaints about each order and diocese.  Could you explain what happened as a result of 24 

that request?  25 

A. That request was overtaken by the work undertaken by Tautoko to support the inquiry 26 

about gathering all that information, so that information there is collated and held by 27 

Tautoko.  28 

Q. But not by NOPS?  29 

A. No.  30 

Q. Presumably the reason the Committee thought NOPS might want that information itself is 31 

so you could be helping and assisting with conversations the Committee might want to have 32 

about the systemic issues?  33 

A. Yes, and I would submit that that task in itself was actually quite complex and the 34 
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Committee may not, as I wouldn't have thought about how complex that would be to 1 

actually be able to gather up all that information from the dozens of orders and diocese.  It 2 

has now been completed or in train due to the work of this Commission through to -- 3 

Q. A big project would be a way to correctly characterise it?  4 

A. A very big project, yes, yes.  5 

Q. But essential in terms of, as I said, being able to identify systemic issues?  6 

A. Yes, yes.  7 

Q. And we see at point 5 just a reference to the date being confirmed for the investigator's 8 

professional training that we saw a reference to in the agenda previously, and then 9 

following issues to be canvassed with the investigators.  So the investigators are not asked 10 

to give a recommendation but rather to give an assessment of the evidence and the 11 

information they're relying on?  12 

A. Yes.  13 

Q. Previously in A Path to Healing it was a requirement that the investigator draw to a 14 

conclusion whether the complaint was proven?  15 

A. Mmm-hmm.  16 

Q. And we've got a shift here, haven't he?  17 

A. Yes.  18 

Q. Can you explain to us why that shift is occurring?  19 

A. My understanding is that the Complaints Assessment Committee members understood it 20 

was their role to make that assessment.  21 

Q. So they simply wanted to receive the bundle of information -- 22 

A. Factual information, yes.  23 

Q. Absent a recommendation and then each Committee member will review that bundle of 24 

information and form their own view?  25 

A. Yes.  26 

Q. And then they'll have a combined discussion?  27 

A. Yes.  28 

Q. At this point in time, adopting this practice of not having the investigator make a 29 

recommendation, would that have been inconsistent with the published A Path to Healing?  30 

A. The 2010 version?   31 

Q. This is in 2018, yes.   32 

A. Right, yes.  33 

Q. And we see the reference there to the need for lines of inquiry to be triangulated and the 34 
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need for a factual report with no emotive words to be used.  In terms of that triangulation of 1 

lines of inquiry, can you shed any light on why that's been expressed at that time?  2 

A. My understanding is that it was around looking to, if the information can be corroborated.  3 

Q. It's an interesting concept that we might, given the lateness in the day, I don't think we'll 4 

start on the topic of corroboration, but there is a theme of that, isn't there, through the 5 

information that that is an aspect that the investigators are looking for as they undertake 6 

their investigation/inquiry?  7 

A. Yes.  8 

Q. Just briefly, just as an example for the Commissioners to see an example of a 9 

recommendation, I'll bring up document CTH0009048.  An alternative version to bring the 10 

same point out CTH999049(sic) we see as an example of a recommendation.  This is when 11 

the Committee's moving into beginning to make recommendations, including in relation to 12 

an ex gratia payment being considered.   13 

   So for the Commissioners you can see that that's fundamentally the decision 14 

coming out of the Complaints Assessment Committee in relation to a particular matter, that 15 

it be upheld, that there be a letter of apology for the physical and sexual abuse, noting that 16 

not everything that was alleged was found proven.  In the letter of apology, offer to meet 17 

with the complainant to apologise in person, offer to fund counselling and to consider 18 

making an ex gratia payment, noting the payments in Australia are far greater than those 19 

made in New Zealand and the payment should be commensurate with those made in 20 

New Zealand.  How would that understanding of what was commensurate with those made 21 

in New Zealand be known given that there isn't this connection of information about 22 

quantum of ex gratia across New Zealand?  23 

A. It's a very good question.  24 

Q. You're not able to assist us with that?  25 

A. I'm not able to assist you with that, sorry, no.  26 

Q. But from this point on we see the tracking, don't we, that on occasion, not in every decision, 27 

the Committee will be adding in perhaps a recommendation that a financial payment be 28 

considered?  29 

A. Yes, based on the information provided by the survivor through their statement about what 30 

outcomes they would like to see from the Path to Healing process.  31 

Q. Perhaps just to end on the point, given it's 5 o'clock, it's been a long day for everyone.  32 

Have you ever seen a survivor come forward and say "I'd like a very small ex gratia 33 

payment"?  34 
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A. No, I haven't.  1 

COMMISSIONER ALOFIVAE:  Can I just a question before you finish, Ms Noonan.  Is this 2 

typical of most decisions that come from the Committee if it's upheld that it's just an 3 

ex gratia payment, a letter of apology and counselling, that it's usually just those three 4 

elements?   5 

A. No, not at all, no, there may be a variety of outcomes that have been sought by a survivor.  6 

Q. We might see that in others, thank you.   7 

CHAIR:  Given it's 2 minutes past 5, Ms Anderson, I think it's time we took a break.  Ms Noonan, 8 

can I just repeat my advice not to speak to anybody about your evidence overnight because 9 

you'll be required -- are you able to come back tomorrow is the issue?   10 

MS McKECHNIE:  Madam Chair, my friend Ms Anderson and I did have a discussion about this. 11 

CHAIR:  Yes. 12 

MS McKECHNIE:  As you may know, Ms Noonan has a family commitment this evening.  I'm 13 

not sure how much longer my friend has with Ms Noonan.  We were wondering whether, if 14 

it was a short period, it could be accommodated this evening to enable her to travel home.  15 

If it can't be accommodated this evening Virginia has agreed to -- she can stay until 16 

tomorrow morning, she's made some arrangements in Christchurch to allow that to happen.   17 

CHAIR:  That's much appreciated.  How long do you expect to expect to continue Ms Anderson?   18 

MS ANDERSON:  Madam Chair, I think it probably is best to pause, I've probably got another 45 19 

minutes or so of questioning.   20 

CHAIR:  I think that would extend us all just a little bit too much.  Ms Noonan, I'm grateful to you 21 

for accommodating us like this, I appreciate that's putting you out, but let me tell me that 22 

that is much appreciated.  Thank you so much. 23 

A. Thank you.   24 

Q. We will adjourn then until, let's get this right tonight, I think it's 9.30 in the morning?  25 

MS ANDERSON:  That is my understanding, Madam Chair.   26 

CHAIR:  Nobody's going to disagree?  We'll adjourn then to 9.30.   27 

Hearing closes with waiata and karakia mutunga by Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei 28 

Hearing adjourned at 5.05 pm to Thursday, 25 March 2021 at 9.30 am 29 

 30 

 31 

 32 

  33 

  34 




